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Corporate Profile
COSCO International Holdings Limited (“COSCO
International” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’
principle activities are ship trading & supplying
services, property investment & development,

COSCO International has been listed on the Mainboard
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since February, 1992 (Stock Code:
0517). Currently, the total asset value of COSCO
International stands at around HK$2.36 billion and the
total number of shares in issue is more than 1.4 billion.
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Corporate Structure
China Ocean Shipping
(Group) Company
100%

COSCO (Hong Kong)
Group Limited
58.84%

Public Shareholders
41.16%

COSCO International
Holdings Limited

Property Investment
& Development

Ship Trading &
Supplying Services

Building
Construction

Infrastructure
Investment

8 Floors of COSCO
Tower, Hong Kong
100%

COSCO International
Ship Trading
Company Limited
60%

Shun Shing
Construction &
Engineering Company,
Limited 100%

Henan Xinzhongyi
Electric Power
Co., Ltd.
48.6%

3 Mei Wo Circuit
Hong Kong
100%
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Fragrant Garden,
Shanghai
85%
Block No. 5
Kingswell Garden,
Shanghai
100%
Shenyang Yihe
Garden
51%
COSCO Real Estate
Development
Company Limited
20%

Tianjin COSCO
Kansai Paint &
Chemicals Co., Ltd.
63.07%
(Joined in January 2004)

Shanghai COSCO
Kansai Paint &
Chemicals Co., Ltd.
63.07%
(Joined in January 2004)

Core Businesses
Ship trading and
supplying services
Ship trading
(Include trading of new and secondhand vessels, the bareboat charter
business, professional consultancy
services on market analysis, ship
valuations and financing, trading of
marine equipment for new ship,
consultancy services in shipping
technologies, business and trade)

Ship relevant insurance

Paint
(Vessel paint, container paint and
anti-corrosion paint)

Ship spares and accessories
Other ship trading and supplying related services

Properties
Shenyang

Shanghai

Hong Kong
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Highlights of the Year

1st Quarter

2nd Quarter
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—

Pre-sale of Phase II of Fragrant Garden in Shanghai
was launched. As at 31st December 2003, 410 flats
were sold and the total proceeds received from the
sales of Phase I and II approximately amounted to
RMB807 million.

—

Wholly owned subsidiary of COSCO International
signed agreement for acquisition of a land situated at
Yu Hung District with Shenyang Municipal Land
Administration Bureau. The consideration amounted
to RMB160 million. Wholly owned subsidiary of
COSCO International formed a sino-foreign equity
joint venture with COSCO Guangzhou Construction
Industry Company (“COSCO GZ”) and Guangzhou
Yihe Investment & Development Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Yihe”) to develop the land parcel into a
mid to high grading residential zone namely, Yihe
Garden. The joint venture, namely Shenyang COSCO
Yihe Property Development Company Limited
(“Shenyang COSCO”), is a 51% owned subsidiary of
COSCO International.

—

Announcement of acquisition of 20% of
the enlarged registered capital in
COSCO Real Estate Development
Company Limited.

—

Board Meeting was held to approve the
audited financial statements of COSCO
International and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31st December 2002.

3rd Quarter
The Phase I Zone II of Fragrant Garden in Shanghai received the 2002
Best Construction Works Project Award — Bai Yu Lan from Shanghai
Municipal Government.

—

The Sky Tower works project in To Kwa Wan constructed by Shun
Shing Construction & Engineering Company Limited (“SSCE”) held the
topping-out ceremony of Tower 1 on 28th August 2003. The other
blocks were topped-out in September 2003.

—

COSCO International announced its signing of conditional agreements
with COSCO Industry Company and Shen-John Investment Company
L.L.C. to acquire 34.19%, 34.19% and 10% equity interest in
Shanghai COSCO Kansai Paint & Chemicals Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Kansai”), Tianjin COSCO Kansai Paint & Chemicals Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin
Kansai”) and International Paint of Shanghai Co., Ltd. respectively.

—

Audit Committee Meeting was held to review the interim results of
2003.

—

Board Meeting was held to approve the interim results of 2003 and
other resolutions.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

—

07

2003
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4th Quarter
—

Henan Power Plant implemented independent financial management policy. Henan Xinzhongyi Electric
Power Co., Ltd. (“Henan XZY”) took charge of the financial management of the power plant thoroughly so
as to strengthen its cost control and enhance its economic effectiveness.

—

Yihe Garden of Shenyang COSCO held the Stone Laying Foundation Ceremony. The ceremony was
officiated by Mr. Chen Zhenggao, Mayor of Shenyang Municipal Government, Mr. Liu Guoyuan ,ViceChairman of COSCO International and Mr. Liu Hanbo, Managing Director of COSCO International.

—

COSCO International announced its signing of a conditional agreement with COSCO Pacific (China)
Investments Co., Ltd., Florens Industrial Holdings Limited and COSCO Tianjin Ocean Shipping Company,
so as to acquire in aggregate a further 28.88% equity interest in each of Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin
Kansai respectively. In addition to the acquisition of 34.19% previously announced, the Company shall
own in aggregate 63.07% equity interest in each of Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin Kansai and become their
single largest shareholder.

—

COSCO International granted share options with an exercisable price of HK$0.57 exercisable within a
term of 5 years.

—

Mr. He Jiale was appointed as Executive Director of COSCO International and Mr. Lu Zhiming resigned as
Executive Director of COSCO International.

2004

—

Acquisition of 63.07% equity interest in each of Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin
Kansai completed.

—

COSCO International entered into 11 tenancy agreements of COSCO Tower from
47th floor to 51st floor with COSCO (Hong Kong) Group Limited and its
subsidiaries (“COSCO Hong Kong Group”).

—

Mr. Zhao Kaiji and Mr. Lin Libing were appointed as executive directors of COSCO
International and Mr. Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec was appointed as Independent NonExecutive Director of COSCO International.

—

Audit Committee Meeting was held to review the final results of 2003.

—

COSCO International signed loan agreement with three prestigious banks. The
unsecured credit facility of loan amounted to US$45 million is purposed to finance
the general working capital and corporate funding requirement of the Company.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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Financial Highlights
Total

Turnover by segments (excluding other operations)

turnover
HK$’ million

2003

217
602
55
23
42

939

2002

178
312
58
20
15

583

2001

1,416
254
68
107
0

1,845

2000

85
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65
120

1,473

Property development
Building construction
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Infrastructure investment
Ship trading
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Turnover by geographical area
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14%

15%
27%
35%

65%
86%

85%

73%

2000

2001
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Total turnover: 1,473

Total turnover: 1,845

Total turnover: 583

Total turnover: 939

Hong Kong
China Mainland

Unit: HK$’ million

Shareholders’ funds and long-term borrowings

2003

139
748
678

2002

139
865
951

2001

139
1,406
1,037

2000

138
1,565
1,027
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Share premium and
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Chairman’s Statement
•

COSCO International persisted in their efforts to thoroughly implement the
strategies set out in early 2002 of focusing on the development of ship
trading and supplying services and strengthened the property development
in China Mainland which formed major direction of COSCO International
in 2003. Based on the present corporate positioning, COSCO International
shall grasp the opportunities and push the business step forward.

•

The Company aims to become a specialist niche quality stock in Hong
Kong and these strategies include:
actively strengthening its ship trading and supplying services and
expanding the scope of ship trading and supplying services, such as
ship relevant insurance, ship spares and accessories, as well as other
ship trading and supplying services related businesses, so as to develop
the “COSCO ship trading and supplying services” brand;

•

striving to become a leading enterprise in the paint industry by
establishing the COSCO paint business platform, seeking technical
partners and utilising synergies to help further develop paint business;

•

consolidating its core businesses in property development through
enhancement in project management to ensure project progress meet
with schedules, boosting up sales effort and looking for high margins
projects to enhance the income base; and

•

consolidating its existing infrastructure business and seeking new
projects to gain benefits.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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COSCO International maintained its efforts to thoroughly implement the strategies set out in
early 2002 of focusing on the development of ship trading and supplying services and
strengthening the property development in China Mainland which formed its major direction
in 2003. During the year, the Company completed a series of acquisitions on one hand and
strengthened the management of existing projects on the other, thus optimising its business
structure. It was very encouraging to see significant improvements in the overall asset quality
of COSCO International during the year, which set a milestone for the future prosperity.

Restructuring for Betterment of Asset Quality
To enhance the quality of its assets and to develop a clearer development direction, during
the year COSCO International disposed of its entire interests in its non-core businesses in
Ark Pioneer Microelectronics (Shenzhen) Limited and COSCO Network Limited. Besides, in
these few years COSCO International and its subsidiaries have been dealing with those
issues left since the 1997 Asian financial crises as well as other historical issues. Taken
reference to the advice of the professional valuers and the circumstances of this year, the
Company and its subsidiaries made further provisions for certain businesses. Today, with the
revived macroeconomy and the past operational achievements of COSCO International, we
are optimistic to say that if there are no adverse changes in the economic situation, COSCO
International had gone through the most difficult period. The overall quality of the assets of
the Company has been properly adjusted and improved after years of hard work. It is
expected that the operating performance of the above efforts will be fully reflected in the
2004 financial statements.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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In accordance with the statutory requirements, the Company is not permitted to pay
dividends to the shareholders while there are accumulated losses. With a view to dealing
with the appropriation of distributable profits and after taking business progress into account
to recommend dividend payment as and when it is appropriate to do so, which in turn will
bring genuine returns to shareholders, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
has proposed to apply part of the amount standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company as at 31st December 2003 to offset its entire accumulated losses
and to transfer the remaining credit of the share premium account to its contributed surplus
account and to have the shareholders’ funds adjusted once for all to show our determination
to turn over a new leaf. The transaction would also increase our capabilities in negotiation

for new investment targets so as to arouse the investors’ and the institutional investors’
interest in investing in the Company.
The mere offsetting the accumulated losses cannot completely solve the problem. Rather, we
shall rely on our quality businesses to upgrade the overall performance of the Company. As
such, COSCO International shall further develop ship trading and supplying services
businesses and consolidate our property development business in China Mainland. With
appropriate adjustment made to the structure of shareholders’ funds, the quality assets
coupled with the rapid development of core businesses, the Company is confident that the
long-term future will be bright.

With the support from its ultimate parent company, China Ocean Shipping (Group) Company
(“COSCO”), who has a competitive edge in the shipping businesses, the Company is well
placed to develop ship trading and supplying services businesses. The ship trading and
supplying services industry refers to the provision of the services and trades related to the
ship industry. They include ship trading, bareboat charter, ship relevant insurance, as well as
ship spares and accessories supply and paint supply services. The scope of this industry is
very wide and the demand is huge. Taking paint industry as an example — at present the
demand in China has reached 2.2 million tones per annum, and is increasing at an annual
rate of 6%. In view of the abundant room of business opportunities and good prospect for
ship trading and supplying services, the Company aims at promptly entering as well as
broadening its market share in the relevant industry.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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Steady Progress in Property Development
Apart from developing the ship trading and supplying services sector, COSCO International
has also been actively consolidating its business in property development in China
Mainland. During the year under review, certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company
explored property development in Shenyang and completed the acquisition of a 20% of the
enlarged registered capital in COSCO Real Estate Company Limited (“CRED”). COSCO
International will actively seek property development projects with reasonable profit margin
to enhance its profitability in 2004.

Towards a Brighter Future in View of the Recovering Economy
Looking ahead in 2004, the external business environment is expected to improve following
a particular gloomy year. According to the latest forecast released by the International
Monetary Fund, the world economy will recover and the growth rate will be 4.6% for the
world and 8.5% for China. The Hong Kong SAR government in its latest budget forecast an
economy growth rate of 6% for Hong Kong in 2004. It is generally expected that all
industries in China will perform well with the economy. Based on the present corporate
positioning, the Company shall grasp the opportunities and push the business step forward.

Strategies for Attaining Higher Profitability
Leveraging on its unique business development advantages and the support of the parent
company COSCO, COSCO International aims to become a specialist niche quality stock in
Hong Kong. To achieve this, the Company will adopt a series of strategies to enhance its
competitiveness and improve its results while exploring new investment projects and
opportunities to improve the quality of its assets. These strategies include:
•

•

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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•

•

actively strengthening its ship trading and supplying services and expanding the scope
of ship trading and supplying services, such as ship relevant insurance, ship spares and
accessories, as well as other ship trading and supplying services related businesses, so
as to develop the “COSCO ship trading and supplying services” brand;
striving to become a leading enterprise in the paint industry by establishing the COSCO
paint business platform, seeking technical partners and utilising synergies to help
further develop paint business;
consolidating its core businesses in property development through enhancement in
project management to ensure project progress meeting with schedules, boosting up
sales effort and looking for high margins projects to enhance the income base; and
consolidating its existing infrastructure business and seeking new projects to gain
benefits.

Adhering to Guiding Principles to Accomplish Objectives
In line with the overall guiding principles of COSCO, the Company will pursue the
development strategy of “one principal (transportation), two cores (shipping and logistics),
and five pillars (trading, industry, finance, information technology and listed companies)”,
aiming to become an efficient and quality enterprise with the following business objectives:
•

To create benefits and to provide substantial and continuing returns for shareholders;

•
•
•
•

To raise the level of corporate governance and develop a strong corporate culture with
high transparency and accountability to protect the interests of shareholders;
To strengthen financial and risk management and to actively control costs in order to
maintain its competitiveness in the capital market;
To perfect its internal control systems to enhance operational efficiencies; and
To enhance the productivity of staff and build up a management team that is capable,
professional, rich in initiatives, intelligent, committed, united and responsible.

Conclusion
Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express our heartfelt thanks to the Company’s
entire staff for their efforts and hard work during the year. I hope they will continue to work
hard to strive for the greatest benefits for the shareholders. In addition, I would like to express
our gratitude to the Company’s customers, business partners, banks, suppliers, advisors and
shareholders for their unfailing support and trust towards COSCO International. Looking
forward, we will continue to make every effort to bring in the best possible results to reward
our shareholders.
WEI Jiafu
Chairman
Beijing, 16th April 2004

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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Vice-Chairman’s Statement
•

COSCO International and its subsidiaries recorded a turnover of HK$940 million,
representing an increase of 61% as compared to that of the previous year. The
surge in turnover was mainly attributable to revenues generated from construction
contracts, sales of Shanghai Fragrant Garden and income from ship trading and
supplying services. Among this, income from ship trading reached HK$41.75
million, an increase of 172% as compared to that of the previous year. Sales
revenue from Shanghai Fragrant Garden was HK$216 million, an increase of
22%.
Operating profit before other charges for the year was doubled to HK$62.53
million when compared to the previous year, due to the profit contribution from
ship trading and supplying services and property development and investment.
COSCO International made significant improvements in its financial position in
2003, as compared to that in 2002. This demonstrates that COSCO International
has been making steady growth.

•

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

In order to solve the consequence accruing from the presence of accumulated
losses of the Company, to get rid of the historical burden and to generate returns
to its shareholders more flexibly, and in accordance with the relevant rules and
regulations, the Board put forward a proposal to apply its share premium
amounting to HK$2.357 billion to offset its accumulated losses and to transfer the
remaining balance to the contributed surplus account. Upon shareholders’
approval of this proposal, the Board will be in a flexible manner to deal with the
retained distributable profits and to recommend the distribution of dividends
according to its business performance. With past few years’ effort, the asset
quality of COSCO International has remarkably improved. It is expected that the
performance from respective businesses will be reflected in 2004 and its target on
maximising returns to shareholders can be achieved.
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I hereby report COSCO International’s annual results for the financial year ended 31st December
2003. COSCO International and its subsidiaries recorded a turnover of HK$940 million,
representing an increase of 61% as compared to that of the previous year. The surge in turnover
was mainly attributable to revenues generated from construction contracts, sales of Shanghai
Fragrant Garden and income from ship trading and supplying services. Among this, income from
ship trading reached HK$41.75 million, an increase of 172% as compared to that of the previous
year. Sales revenue from Shanghai Fragrant Garden was HK$216 million, an increase of 22%.
Operating profit for the year was doubled to HK$62.53 million when compared to the previous
year, due to the profit contribution from ship trading and supplying services and property
development.
With reference to the advice of professional valuers and circumstances of this year, the Group
made provisions of HK$136 million on certain of its businesses. Among them include loss arising
from the revaluation deficit of investment properties, provision for completed properties held for
sale, provision for diminution in value of investment in security, provision for claims on certain
construction contracts and an impairment loss on fixed assets. Excluding these provisions due to
historical burdens, COSCO International made significant improvement in its financial position in
2003, as compared to that in 2002. For instance, cash in hand amounted to HK$555 million, 14%
higher than the same period in the previous year. Deducting the HK$110 million cash payment for
acquiring Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin Kansai in early 2004, and adding in the US$45 million nonguaranteed bank loan facility signed in early 2004 and the existing bank loan facility, COSCO
International and its subsidiaries’ available cash and unused bank loans facilities amounted to
HK$900 million, 40% of its total assets, 4% less than that of 44% in 2002. This demonstrates that
COSCO International has been making steady growth.
COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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Due to market operating conditions and lots of historical factors, COSCO International
accumulated losses of HK$1.67 billion as at 31st December 2003. In order to solve the
consequences accruing from the presence of accumulated losses, to get rid of historical burden and
to generate returns to its shareholders more flexibly, and in accordance with the relevant rules and
regulations, the Board put forward a proposal to apply its share premium amounting to HK$2.357
billion to offset its accumulated losses and to transfer the remaining balance to the contributed
surplus account. Upon shareholders’ approval of this proposal, the Board will be in a flexible
manner to deal with the retained distributable profits and to recommend the distribution of
dividends according to its business performance. With the past few years’ effort, the asset quality of
COSCO International has remarkably improved. It is expected that the performance from respective
businesses will be reflected in 2004 and its target on maximising returns to shareholders can be
achieved.

After the meeting, the Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year
ended 31st December 2003 (2002: nil).

Business Review
COSCO International had achieved remarkable results in expanding its business grounds in 2003,
with over 61% increase in turnover. Having announced its completely new business positioning in
the beginning of 2002 — exploring into the ship trading and supplying services business and
strengthening its property business development, COSCO International has been progressing to the
directions of these two business areas. COSCO International had made great effort in carrying out
several acquisitions of new projects and consolidating its existing businesses in 2003.

Properties
During the year, the Hong Kong property market had not yet fully recovered. The SARS outbreak in
the first half of 2003 dampened the economy and the office rental market likewise was affected,
resulting in a decline in rental rate of grade-A commercial buildings. Despite these difficulties,
COSCO International was able to maintain the 100% occupancy rate of COSCO Tower. During the
year, the tenancy agreements for the five storeys of COSCO Tower let to COSCO Hong Kong Group
were due. With the support of companies under the umbrella of COSCO Hong Kong Group,
COSCO International’s subsidiaries successfully signed 11 new tenancies with nine companies of
COSCO Hong Kong Group. The majority of the rental rate under these new tenancies are more
favourable than the market rate and are expected to bring in an aggregate rental income of over
HK$87 million in the following three years.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

The overall property market in China Mainland continues to flourish, with the industry index of
Shanghai and Beijing property markets rising substantially as compared to the previous year. The
residential project in Shanghai, Fragrant Garden Phase II, commenced sales in April 2003. Over
410 units had been sold at the end of the year. The Phase I and II of this residential project have a
cash inflow totalling RMB800 million for COSCO International and its subsidiaries, as at 31st
December 2003.

21

On the other hand, to enhance and consolidate our strategic position in the property industry, one
of COSCO International’s wholly owned subsidiaries acquired the rights of a development project
located at Beita Xin Cun, Yu Hung District, Shenyang in mid June 2003. The project is developing
by Shenyang COSCO, one of COSCO International’s subsidiaries. The site is situated within the
inner ring of Shenyang City with a gross area of 200,000 square meters. The entire project,
requiring a total project investment of approximately RMB590 million, is expected to be completed
in two phases within a period of three and a half year. The pre-sale is expected to launch in the
second quarter of 2004 at the earliest. Currently, the Shenyang Municipal government is in the
process of city planning and reforming the census registration system, which has stimulated the
demand for properties. COSCO International believes that substantial returns will be generated
from this new development project.
In late January, 2003, COSCO International announced to acquire 20% of enlarged registed capital of
CRED and was ranked as one of its largest shareholders with COSCO and China National Chemicals
Import and Export Corporation. After the acquisition, COSCO International will co-manage and cooperate with other shareholders on CRED’s projects. CRED currently has a land reserve including
Ocean Yuquan Garden, project situated on the west of Changan Avenue namely Kai Xuan Square,
construction of infrastructure in CBD and interests in other properties in Beijing.

Ship Trading and Supplying Services

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003
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In 2003, the global shipping market performed satisfactorily, stimulating an increased demand for
vessels and a rapid growth in the new and second-hand vessels market. As at 31st December 2003,
vessels successfully traded under COSCO International Ship Trading Company Limited (“COSCO
Ship Trading”) during the year were 3.72 million tonnes, a rise of 154.8% as compared to the
previous year. Being the sole window company under COSCO that provides COSCO’s vessels with
ship trading and agency services, COSCO Ship Trading offers a full spectrum of services including
the trading of new and second-hand vessels, the bareboat charter business, the trading of marine
equipment for new shipbuilding projects and the provision of consultancy services in shipping
technologies, business and trade, professional consultancy services on market analysis, ship
valuations and financing. During the year, COSCO Ship Trading had successfully assisted in three
bareboat charter of 5,600TEU super-panamax container vessels and assisted the ship owner in the
manufacture of two 175,000 tonnes Capesizes.
To enlarge the market share in ship trading business, COSCO Ship Trading actively developed the
non-COSCO ship trading business and successfully obtained certain business volume every year.
During 2003 in review, COSCO Ship Trading successfully traded seven non-COSCO second-hand

vessels and scrap boats, with profit contribution from non-COSCO ship trading businesses being
increased to 10%.
Due to the great and steady demand for paints like vessel paint and container paint within COSCO
Group, COSCO International entered into conditional agreements with COSCO’s subsidiaries to
acquire an aggregate 63.07% equity interest in each of Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin Kansai in mid
August and late November 2003 respectively and 10% equity interest in Shanghai International.
Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin Kansai reported satisfactory results in 2003 with an aggregate turnover
and profit before tax amounted to HK$610 million and HK$80 million respectively. Riding on the
current development of the country and COSCO International’s running on holistic management,
contribution from these acquisitions will be reflected in the 2004 financial statements of COSCO
International as a new engine of profit growth. Through the construction of the COSCO paint
business platform, they will bring in long-term and steady income for COSCO International and its
subsidiaries.

Infrastructure

Building Construction
SSCE constructed “The Sky Tower”, a large residential project located at To Kwa Wan, for well
known developers in Hong Kong. The project occupies 14,180 square meters with a gross floor
area of 173,075 square meters. The whole project is scheduled to be completed in 2004.
During the year, SSCE secured a number of school improvement projects from the Architectural
Services Department. These were extension works for six schools in the New Territories, which
were all completed in the third quarter of 2003. Additionally, SSCE also procured repairs and
maintenance service contracts for vacant units in Shun On Estate, Lei Yu Mun Estate Phase I and

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

Looking back 2003, Henan XZY made persistent efforts to implement capital management
strategies, prudent budgetary control and independent financial management measures, to pursue
continuous corporate development and to put emphasis on the importance of safety management,
with an aim to strike a balance between stable development and efficiency of profitability. On 1st
October 2003, Henan XZY took over the entire financial management of its plant to strengthen cost
control and enhance profitability. The operations of Henan Power Plant improved significantly and
successfully achieved the key economic and technical objectives as set out in the beginning of the
year. On the whole, Henan Power Plant was in a good operating condition. Compared to the
previous year, its power supply increased by 2% to reach 2,200,000,000kWh and sales revenue
was up 2.2% to RMB498 million. Profit before taxation amounted to RMB100 million while profit
attributable to shareholders of Henan Power Plant was RMB81.03 million, an increase of 16% as
compared to the previous year.
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Ngau Tau Kok Upper Village Phase I from the Hong Kong Housing Authority. These projects are
scheduled for completion by the end of 2004.
In conclusion, SSCE was still affected by the slump of the construction market and the challenges
resulted from the government’s policy on stabilising the property market in the past year. Under this
difficult business environment, SSCE will strive to enhance its monitoring in projects, strengthen its
management and cost control measures.

Corporate Governance
COSCO International strongly believes that a good corporate governance will bring a positive
influence to corporate economic efficiencies as a whole. With reference to international best
practices and applicable rules of the Stock Exchange, our principle is to maximise shareholders’
value. The Board is responsible for formulating visionary and constructive strategies and monitoring
the performance of the senior management. The Audit Committee, taking the role in assisting the
Board, approves important accounting policies and reviews the financial statements of COSCO
International and its subsidiaries. To enhance corporate transparency, COSCO International also
makes use of various channels such as press releases and press announcements to ensure the timely
and accurate disclosure of information in relation to major events and connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of applicable laws and the Listing Rules. All information
mentioned above is open to access to all shareholders and the public at COSCO International’s
website and COSCO Hong Kong’s website for our latest development. A special team has been set
up to handle enquiries from investors and media about COSCO International.

Human Resources Management
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COSCO International has always placed a strong emphasis on fostering a positive corporate culture
and enhancing staff quality to maximise performance of its staff at all levels. As such, every staff
receives a copy of the Staff Handbook (“The Handbook”), which provides guidance to employees
on employee dealings, ethical standards, code of business conduct and code of conduct for
employees. The Handbook applies to all employees and they have to ensure strict compliance with
the rules stated therein.
Through the establishment of a performance charter for COSCO International’s senior executives,
appropriate appraisal mechanisms and the setting up of share option scheme, COSCO International
has been able to align the interests of its senior management and the entire staff with its growth and
performance, thus providing appropriate incentives to its senior management and the staff and
attracting and retaining the key executives. COSCO International also focused on the establishment
of an optimal corporate culture. With the full support of its senior management, COSCO

International established a corporate culture that is in compliance with the Listing Rules and that is
considered appropriate to its characters by identification, design and implementation, thereby
ensuring that effective human resources management is maintained at all levels.

Future Prospects
Properties
The implementation of the articles in the Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement and the
admission of tourists from China Mainland to enter the ambit of the HKSAR without restriction, are
expected to bring in more business opportunities. COSCO International believes that the office
rental market will gradually revive, which will result in an upsurge in rents. COSCO International
will keep abreast of market trends by conducting market surveys and research. It will strive to
attract more tenants, aiming to maintain a 90% occupancy rate in COSCO Tower which will bring
stable income for COSCO International and its subsidiaries.

Ship Trading and Supplying Services
With the recovery of world economy, prospects for the shipping industry are optimistic. Orders
from Korea, Japan and China for new ship buildings have been fully booked till early 2007. Prices
for new ship buildings will continue to go up and remain at a high level. The price index of vessels
will differentiate with reference to the vessel’s types and sizes.
In the second-hand vessel market, the prices will be kept at a high level with active trading, in view
of the optimistic shipping industry and high new ship building prices. Bulk cargo vessels will also
maintain their uptrend with Good Cape model recording the highest price surge. Prices of oil
tankers will remain stable, as there is an oversupply of new oil tankers coming into operation. In
the second half of 2004, there will be more large scale container vessels coming into service,
therefore the price of container vessels will remain steady.
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As the fixed asset investments in China Mainland reached RMB560 billion in 2003, energy supply,
transportation and power industries were buoyed accordingly. The Central Government is thus
imposing stringent controls on these industries by issuing the No. 18 policy document which
provides guidelines that the rapid, persistent and healthy growth of the property market should be
made at a pace within the range from 20% to 30%. Currently, property investment accounts for
20% to 23% of national fixed asset investment, showing that China Mainland’s property market is
still in a healthy condition in terms of quantity, scale and prices. COSCO International will closely
monitor the project progress by improving its management system, and will capture opportunities
to boost up sales of its property projects in Beijing, Shanghai and Shenyang. COSCO International
will also explore new property projects whenever opportunities arise for stable and reasonable
returns.
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Looking forward, COSCO Ship Trading will be active in the ship trading business from COSCO and
its subsidiaries (“COSCO Group”) while continuing to explore new markets outside COSCO Group
and strengthening its internal management. It will also improve its information analysis and
communication abilities by using advanced information technology, in addition to consolidating
resources and skills for new ship building, sale and purchase of second-hand vessels as well as ship
financing and leasing. As such, COSCO Ship Trading will enhance its core competitiveness by
providing value-added services.
COSCO International will strengthen its management over the paint business by adhering to the
operating principle of “Creating shareholders’ and customers’ values by utilising all resources that
are market-oriented, technology-supported and funds-protected”. COSCO International will also
capitalise on COSCO Group’s advantages in the global shipping industry, ship trading and
container market, to develop strategies for three paints — container paint, vessel paint and anticorrosion paint. COSCO International will accelerate the development of potential markets,
strengthen the management, enhance corporate quality to create higher efficiencies. Through
actively establishing the COSCO paint business platform and exploring further opportunities,
COSCO International is committed to becoming a leading enterprise in the paint industry.
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Infrastructure
In 2004, demand for electricity supply in Henan Province will keep on growing at a higher rate.
Power production in Henan Province is expected to increase by 12% to 112.2 billion kWh, while
the power consumption is expected to increase by 13% to 116.9 billion kWh. Due to the
continuous implementation of different electricity pricing systems during on-peak and off-peak
hours, pricing competition between power plants remains fierce. It is foreseeable that such difficult
operating environment will continue due to limited supply of coal resources and an upsurge in coal
prices. Facing the year with full variables and challenges, Henan XZY will fully capture the
opportunities arising from the market and strengthen its financial controls and operational
management systems. Reform in the management system and stringent cost controls will be in
place to strive for profit maximisation.
Due to robust economic growth in China Mainland as well as increasing domestic demand,
COSCO International is optimistic towards the prospects of infrastructure business. In view of the
enormous development potential of the domestic infrastructure market, COSCO International will
grasp every infrastructure investment opportunity with instant profits and satisfactory returns to
enlarge COSCO International and its subsidiaries’ earnings base and cash inflows.

Building Construction
The construction market in 2004 is expected to be far better than that in 2003. The revived
property market will drive overall economic growth and the construction industry out of the
gloomy period.
Conclusion
Looking ahead, COSCO International will continue to practise COSCO Hong Kong’s operational
mottos: “Maximising corporate profits, market-oriented strategy, qualified service, well-trimmed
management, strong team work among staff”, while actively expanding the ship trading and
supplying services related business and consolidating its property business. COSCO International
will strengthen its core competitiveness and work to achieve the “new start, new height and new
outcome” target. It will optimise the management system and upgrade the management quality, as
well as improve its risk and financial management and enhance its capabilities in capital operation.
Through the gradual building of the brandnames — “COSCO painting” and “COSCO ship trading
and supplying services”, COSCO International will be able to boost up its profitability and
sustainability, bringing in favourable returns for shareholders.
LIU Guoyuan
Vice-Chairman
Hong Kong,16th April 2004
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Financial Review
For the year ended 31st December 2003, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$939,680,000
(2002: HK$583,508,000), representing a substantial increase of 61% as compared to the prior year.
The significant increase was mainly due to the increase in turnover of building construction, sales
of properties and commission income of ship trading by HK$289,513,000, HK$38,737,000 and
HK$26,399,000 respectively.
The Group incurred an operating loss of HK$73,886,000 for the year (2002: HK$507,837,000) and
the loss attributable to shareholders decreased to HK$116,706,000 (2002: HK$538,056,000). The
loss was mainly due to provisions of HK$136,414,000 (2002: HK$539,043,000) made in 2003
comprising the revaluation deficit of investment properties of HK$70,966,000 (2002:
HK$45,900,000); provision for completed properties held for sale in Hong Kong of HK$11,271,000
(2002: HK$43,966,000); provision for diminution in value of investment security of HK$8,893,000
(2002: HK$13,650,000); provision for claims with related legal costs and foreseeable losses on
construction contracts of HK$42,429,000 (2002: HK$87,729,000); impairment loss on fixed assets
of HK$2,855,000 (2002: impairment loss on leasehold land and building of HK$207,000,000 and
provision for impairment loss on other investment in a joint venture of HK$140,798,000).
Excluding the above provisions, the Group achieved an operating profit of HK$62,528,000 (2002:
HK$31,206,000). The increase in operating profit by two-folds as compared to the previous year
was mainly the result of the profit contribution from the ship trading business.
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Financial Resources and Liquidity
As at 31st December 2003, shareholders’ funds of the Group decreased by 12% to
HK$887,072,000 as a result of the loss attributable to shareholders of HK$116,706,000 recorded
for the year. For the year ended 31st December 2003, the Group had a net repayment of bank
loans in the amount of HK$171,161,000 (2002: HK$361,076,000). As at 31st December 2003,
total banking facilities available to the Group amounted to HK$1,296,897,000 (2002:
HK$1,507,615,000) of which HK$935,120,000 (2002: HK$1,106,281,000) were utilised. The
reduction in utilisation of banking facilities was primarily attributable to the repayment of bank
loans by applying proceeds from the sale of properties under Shanghai Fragrant Garden and the
leasing of investment properties and other properties in Hong Kong. The gearing ratio, which
represents total bank loans over total assets, was approximately 40% (2002: 44%). The gearing
ratio decreased despite the aforesaid provisions of HK$136,414,000 made on certain assets due to
the reduction in utilisation of banking facilities.
As at 31st December 2003, the Group’s borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi and carry interests at rates calculated with reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate and the Base Rates announced by the People’s Bank of China. The Group did not have any
financial instruments used for hedging purpose.
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The maturity and currency profiles of the outstanding bank loans as at 31st December 2003 are
analysed as follows:

2003

2002

HK$’000

HK$’000

Maturity profiles:
Bank loans repayable
— Within one year

257,220

28%

155,000

14%

19,230

2%

171,281

15%

658,670

70%

780,000

71%

935,120

100%

1,106,281

100%

Secured

697,130

75%

853,281

77%

Unsecured

237,990

25%

253,000

23%

935,120

100%

1,106,281

100%

916,330

98%

1,033,000

93%

18,790

2%

73,281

7%

935,120

100%

1,106,281

100%

— In the second year
— In the third to fifth year

Currency profiles:
Hong Kong Dollar
Renminbi
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As at 31st December 2003, investment properties in Hong Kong of HK$242,034,000 (2002:
HK$313,000,000) and other properties in Hong Kong of HK$722,549,000 (2002:
HK$738,806,000) were pledged as securities to a bank in respect of certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Cash and bank balances amounted to HK$554,930,000 (2002: HK$486,117,000) as at 31st
December 2003 and accounted for 56% (2002: 53%) of the current assets of the Group. Bank
balances of HK$4,392,000 (2002: HK$54,129,000) has been restricted by a bank for the purpose of
granting banking facilities to the Group.
During the year, the Group had no material exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. With its strong
cash position and the available banking facilities, the Group has adequate resources for its ongoing
operations and future development.

Major Customers and Suppliers
For the year ended 31st December 2003, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 68% of
the Group’s turnover and the largest customer included therein accounted for 54%. During the
year, the aggregate amount of purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30%
of the total cost of sales of the Group.
None of the Company’s directors, their associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Company’s directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had a beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

Employees
As at 31st December 2003, excluding associated companies and jointly controlled entities, the
Group had approximately 269 (2002: 292) employees of whom approximately 134 (2002: 158)
completion of the certain construction contracts. For the year ended 31st December 2003,
employees costs including directors’ emoluments and pension costs totaled HK$57,772,000 (2002:
HK$57,942,000). During the year, all Hong Kong employees participated in the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme.
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Corporate Governance
We have established a sound corporate governance framework, with reference to international best
practices and the listing rules of the Stock Exchange, following the guiding principle that we are
accountable to all shareholders and are committed to maximising shareholder value and enhancing
information transparency. With the Board playing a pivotal role, the framework leverages on the
supervisory functions of the Independent Non-Executive Directors and combines the collective
decision making of the Board, to create the most appropriate form of corporate governance.

Board of Directors and the Management
The Board is responsible for formulating the Company’s overall strategies and targets with a view to
enhancing shareholder value and to monitoring and providing guidance to our Management. Out
of the fifteen members on the Board, three of them are Independent Non-Executive Directors
whose primary functions are to provide independent monitoring and to ensure the protection of
minority shareholder interests. The remaining members including one Non-Executive Director and
eleven Executive Directors.
The duties of the Board include establishing the strategic direction of the Group, setting objectives
and monitoring the performance of the senior management. The positions and roles of the
Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are separate from that of the Managing Director. The Chairman
and the Vice-Chairman are responsible for formulating the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. The Managing Director, supported by other board members and the senior management,
is authorised by the Board to manage the day-to-day business operations of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s internal control policies and procedures.
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Both the Board and the management of the Company have clearly defined authorities and
responsibilities under various internal controls and check and balance mechanisms. Under the
instructions of the Board, the management of the Company has implemented appropriate measures
and internal control procedures to ensure that the Company operates within all applicable legal
and regulatory requirements with prudence and integrity.
The Non-Executive Director and the Independent Non-Executive Directors, all of whom are
independent of the management of the Company, are highly experienced professionals with diverse
backgrounds. They ensure that the Board maintains high standards of financial and other
mandatory reporting, in addition to providing adequate checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole.
According to the bye-laws of the Company, all directors of the Company have to retire from office
but shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Full Board meetings take place no less than twice a year to review the financial and operating
performance of the Group. The Financial Controller and Company Secretary also attend all board
meetings to advise on statutory compliance, accounting and financial matters. All businesses
transacted at the meetings were documented and maintained in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations.

The Audit Committee
Pursuant to the resolution passed on 16th April 2004, the Audit Committee consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Director, the chairman is an
Independent Non-Executive Director. The members of the Audit Committee are: Mr. Chan Cheong
Foon, Andrew (Chairman), Mr. Alexander Reid Hamilton, Mr. Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec and Mr. Kwong
Che Keung, Gordon.
In addition to assisting the Board in fulfilling its overall responsibilities, the functions of the Audit
Committee also include reviewing important accounting policies and supervising the Company’s
financial reporting process; monitoring the performance of Internal Audit Manager and the external
auditors; reviewing and examining the effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting
procedures and internal controls; ensuring compliance with applicable statutory accounting and
reporting requirements, legal and regulatory requirements, and internal rules and procedures
approved by the Board.
Internal Audit Manager reports directly to the Audit Committee. Two Audit Committee meetings
were held in 2003 with an attendance rate of 100%. All businesses transacted at these meetings
were documented and maintained in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Connected Transactions
The Company committed to ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements under the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations in handling connected transactions. Accordingly, we
implemented various internal control mechanisms to capture and monitor connected transactions,
including the nature of the transaction, categories of connected persons, and approval authorities
and procedures, to ensure that the connected transactions of the Company are approved by
Independent Non-Executive Directors, conducted on normal commercial terms or on terms that are
fair and reasonable and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by independent
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After each audit committee meeting, the Audit Committee Chairman will present a written report to
the Board which highlights any significant issues discussed in the meeting for the Board’s
information and consideration.
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shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules. Details of the connected transactions during the
year are set out from pages 53 to 56 of the Directors’ Report and in note 31 to the financial
statements.

Disclosure and Dissemination of Information
Ordinary shares of the Company (Stock Code: 0517) are listed on the Stock Exchange. We
disclosed details of our major activities, price sensitive information and connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of applicable laws and the Listing Rules.
We make use of various channels to ensure the effective disclosure of information and financial
transparency relating to the Company. Communication is carried out through:
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•

The Company’s annual and interim reports, which have been enhanced to present a
comprehensive, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects;

•

Press briefings for the Group’s annual results and other matters, as appropriate;

•

Press releases on the Group’s major developments;

•

Disclosures to the Stock Exchange and other relevant regulatory bodies;

•

The Company’s website at http://www.coscointl.com and the website of COSCO Hong Kong
at http://www.cosco.com.hk where shareholders can access information of the Group. The
website provides corporate announcements, press releases, annual reports and corporate
information of the Group; and

•

A specific team which has been established to deal with investors and media related issues
and matters.

Internal Audit
We have implemented appropriate policies and procedures for all our major operations. Internal
Audit Manager is responsible for monitoring compliance with these policies and procedures. The
primary objective of Internal Audit Manager is to assist the Board and the management of the
Company in risk management and in monitoring compliance with applicable regulatory
requirements and guidelines with a view to enhancing the effectiveness of our internal control
mechanisms. During the year, all audit missions set out in the 2003 Internal Audit Plan were

accomplished. The recommendations made by Internal Audit Manager in connection with these
audit missions were widely accepted and rectification measures have been put in place. Internal
Audit Manager also actively participate in the review and enhancement of our internal policies and
procedures on a continuing basis.

Management Meetings
The management of the Company including all department heads meet together on a weekly basis
to review, discuss and make decisions on financial and operational matters. These meetings,
chaired by the Managing Director, enhance and strengthen departmental communications and cooperation within the Company.

Incentive Scheme and Corporate Culture
The Company maintains an employee handbook providing guidance to employees on matters such
as employee dealings, ethical standards, the code of business conduct and code of conduct for
employees. The handbook applies to all employees of the Group who must ensure strict
compliance with the policies therein.
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Through the establishment of a performance charter for our senior executives, appropriate appraisal
mechanisms, and the share option scheme, we have been able to align the interests of the
management of the Company and entire staff with the growth and performance of the Company.
We have done this with a view to providing appropriate incentives to our management and staff.
We pay particular attention to the establishment of an optimal corporate culture. With the full
support of the Board and the management of the Company, we have identified, designed and
implemented a corporate culture that is considered appropriate for the special circumstances of our
Company, thereby ensuring that good corporate governance is maintained at all levels and at all
times within the Company.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Chairman
Dr. WEI Jiafu

aged 54, joined the Company as the Chairman in June 2000. Dr. Wei is
responsible for formulating the overall strategy and policy of COSCO
International and its subsidiaries. He is also the President of COSCO and the
Chairman of COSCO Hong Kong, COSCO Pacific Limited (“COSCO Pacific”)
and COSCO Container Lines Company Limited. He was elected into the CPC
Central Committee for Discipline Inspection in November 2002. Dr. Wei had
been a COSCO ship captain for many years and was awarded with the
professional qualification of a Senior Engineer by Ministry of Communications
of the PRC. He is the Chairman of China Shipowners’ Association, Executive
Chairman of China Federation of Industrial Economics, Director of the Board of
Bo’ao Forum for Asia, President of China Maritime Law Association, advisor of
Harvard Business School and advisor of Panama Canal Authority. He obtained
his Master’s degree in Shipping Management and Engineering from Dalian
Maritime University and his Doctoral degree from Tianjin University. Dr. Wei
had been the President of COSCO Investment (Singapore) Limited and
Managing Director of Sino-Tanzania Joint Shipping Co., Tianjin Ocean
Shipping Co. and COSCO Bulk Carrier Co., Ltd.

aged 53, joined the Company as the Vice-Chairman in November 2000. He is
also the Executive Vice-Chairman and President of COSCO (Hong Kong) Group
Limited (“COSCO Hong Kong”), the Vice-Chairman of COSCO Pacific, the
Chairman of COSCO (H.K) Shipping Company Limited and COSCO (Hong
Kong) Industry & Trade Holdings Limited.
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Upon graduating from the Beijing Foreign Languages University in February 1975,
Mr. Liu joined COSCO in the same year. In August 1982, he earned the Master of
Laws degree (LL.M) from the Law School of the University of Washington, USA.
Since 1984, Mr. Liu had been the General Manager of the Law & Policy Research
Department, the Executive Division and the Planning & Project Division in
COSCO head office. In 1990, he was awarded the qualification of Senior
Economist by the Ministry of Communications of the PRC. In 1991, Mr. Liu was
promoted as the Senior Commercial Director of COSCO head office. Thereafter,
he had been the Senior Deputy Managing Director of COSCO Tianjin, Senior Vice
President and then Vice-Chairman, President of COSCO Europe GMBH.
Mr. Liu has accumulated rich knowledge on corporate management, shipping
business management and investment management in domestic and overseas
enterprises from his past years’ working experience in COSCO.
Currently, he is the member of the Hong Kong Port Development Council, the
Hong Kong Maritime Industry Council, the Hong Kong Logistics Development
Council, the Council member of Hong Kong Management Association, the
Council member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce as well as
Secretary General of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association.

Vice Chairman
Mr. LIU Guoyuan

aged 47, joined the Company as the Executive Director in March 2002. He is
also the Vice-President of COSCO and a director of COSCO Pacific. Mr. Li
graduated from the University of East London in the United Kingdom with a
Master’s degree in business administration. He had been a director of Nantong
Shipyard, Managing Director of COSCO Industries Co., COSCO Real Estate
Development Co., Limited and COSCO Property Group Company. He has wide
experience in corporate management.

Executive Director
Mr. LI Jianhong

aged 55, joined the Company as the Executive Director in September 2000. He
is also a director and Vice-President of COSCO Hong Kong and a director of
COSCO Pacific. He graduated from the Dalian Maritime University. He had
been the General Manager of China Ocean Shipping Agency, Nanjing and the
Deputy General Manager of COSCO Asia Development Limited and COSCO
(H.K.) Industry & Trade Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhou has a lot of professional
experiences in enterprise management.

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

Executive Director
Mr. ZHOU Liancheng
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aged 44, joined the Company as the Managing Director in January 2002. He is
also the Vice-President of COSCO Hong Kong. Mr. Liu graduated from Dalian
Maritime University in Communication and Transportation Management and
Planning with a Master’s degree and is a Senior Economist. He had been the
General Manager of COSCO Dalian Enterprises Development Company,
General Manager of the Development Division of COSCO and Head of Asset
Operating Centre, as well as General Manager of COSCO (H.K.) Industry &
Trade Holdings Limited.

Managing Director
Mr. LIU Hanbo
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aged 49, joined the Company as the Executive Director in November 2003. He
is also the Financial Controller of COSCO Hong Kong. He graduated from
Shanghai Harbour School in 1974. He was awarded the professional
qualification of Senior Accountant by Ministry of Communications of the PRC
in 1997. During 2001 to 2003, Mr. He attended a Master Program of
Management Science and Engineering in Shanghai University. He had been the
Deputy Manager of Financial Division of COSCO Shanghai, Deputy General
Manager of Financial Division of COSCO Container Lines Company Limited,
Deputy General Manager of Financial Department of COSCO and Chief
Financial Officer of COSCO Container Lines and COSCO Shanghai
respectively.

Executive Director
Mr. HE Jiale

Aged 38, joined the Company as the Executive Director in April 2004. He is
the Deputy General Manager of Assets Management Division of COSCO. Dr.
Guo graduated from Xian Highway College with a Master’s degree in
Transportation Management and obtained a Doctoral degree in Transportation
Economics from Northern Jiaotong University in 1997. He is also a Senior
Economist. Dr. Guo had been the Deputy Department Head of Enterprises
Restructure Department of Management Division of COSCO. He has
professional knowledge and extensive experience in transportation
management and corporate management.

Executive Director
Dr. GUO Huawei

aged 36, joined the Company as the Executive Director in June 2002. He is
also the General Manager of the Strategic Planning Division of COSCO Hong
Kong. Mr. Chen graduated from the Dalian Maritime University in 1990 and
obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of
South Australia in 2002. He had been Deputy General Manager of Executive
Division of COSCO and Deputy General Manager of Strategic Planning
Division of COSCO Hong Kong. Mr. Chen has wide experience in corporate
management.
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Mr. CHEN Pisen
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aged 48, joined the Company as the Executive Director in March 2002. He is a
director of COSCO Pacific and the Managing Director of Finance Division of
COSCO Hong Kong. Mr. Meng graduated from Changsha Railway University in
1978 and was awarded the professional qualification of Accountant in China
Mainland. He has wide experience in financial management and accounting
and is familiar with corporate financial planning.

Executive Director
Mr. MENG Qinghui
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aged 52, joined the Company in November 1999 and became the Deputy
Managing Director in February 2004. Mr. Zhao is in charge of new business
development of the Company. He had been the COSCO’s Representative in
Romania’s office, General Manager of Tianjin Shipping Developing Company,
General Manager of Tianjin Jinshen Ferry Co., Limited and the President of
COSCO North America Inc. He has extensive experience in the global market
operation as well as that in China Mainland.

Deputy Managing Director
Mr. ZHAO Kaiji

aged 41, joined the Company in September 2002 and became the Deputy
Manager Director in February 2004. Mr. Lin is in charge of the financial
management and project investment of the Company. He joined COSCO in
1982 and had been in the finance field for years. He is a qualified Accountant
in China Mainland. He had been the General Manager of Finance Division of
COSCO (H.K.) Shipping Co., Limited and the General Manager of Finance
Division of COSCO. He has extensive experience in the global market
operation as well as in China Mainland.

Deputy Managing Director
Mr. LIN Libing

Non-Executive Director
Mr. KWONG Che Keung, Gordon
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aged 54, joined the Company in May 1998 and become the Non-Executive
Director in March 2003. Mr. Kwong graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in 1972, qualifying as a chartered accountant in England in 1977. He was
a partner of Pricewaterhouse from 1984 to 1998. He is also a Non-Executive
Director of COSCO Pacific and numerous listed companies in Hong Kong. He
was the Managing Director of the Company from 1998 to 2001. In the public
sector services, he was a part-time panel member of the Hong Kong
Government’s Central Policy Unit from 1993 to 1995 and was an independent
member of the Council of The Stock Exchange from 1992 to 1997. He was
appointed as a member of the Panel of Inquiry on the Penny Stocks Incident by
the Financial Secretary in 2002.
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aged 66, joined the Company as the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company in December 1991. He is also the senior partner of Wong
Brothers & Co., Certified Public Accountants. He has wide experience in public
accounting practice and is a fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, CPA
Australia and the Hong Kong Society of Accountants.

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Foon, Andrew
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aged 62, joined the Company as the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company in August 1997. He is also the Independent Non-Executive
Director of COSCO Pacific , CITIC Pacific Limited, Esprit Holdings Limited,
Shangri-La Asia Limited and a director of a number of other Hong Kong
companies. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Scotland, a fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants and a fellow of the
Institute of Directors (UK). He was a partner in Pricewaterhouse and has
extensive auditing and accounting experience.

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Alexander Reid HAMILTON

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. TSUI Yiu Wa, Alec

aged 55, joined the Company as an Independent Non-Executive Director in
February 2004. He is also the Chief Executive of WAG Financial Services
Group Limited and the Chairman of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. He is
an independent non-executive director of a number of listed companies in
Hong Kong, including Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited,
Value Convergence Holdings Limited, Techpacific Capital Limited, Stockmarket
Holdings Limited, Vertex Group Limited and China Chengtong Development
Group Limited. He is also a director of Hong Kong Professional Consultants
Association Limited and Galaxy Satellite Broadcasting Limited. Mr. Tsui
graduated from the University of Tennessee, United States with a Bachelor of
Science degree and a Master of Engineering degree in Industrial Engineering.
He completed the program for Senior Managers in Government at the John F.
Kennedy School of Government of Harvard University. He has numerous years
of experience in finance and administration, corporate and strategic planning,
IT as well as human resources management.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. WANG Xiaodong
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Aged 45, joined the Company in March 2004, is the Deputy General Manager of the Company. Mr.
Wang is responsible for the development and management of paint businesses. Mr. Wang has a
background in both marine engineering and business. He graduated from Dalian Maritime
University with a Bachelor of Science degree in Marine Mechanical Management in 1983 and a
Master’s degree of Business Administration from China and Europe International Business School in
1998. In 1983, Mr. Wang was the Technology Manager and Assistant General Manager and
General Manager of China Marine Bunker Supply Company. In 1994, he joined the Trade Division
as the Deputy General Manager and the Department Head of Consolidated Trade Department of
COSCO . Later, he was the General Manager of China Marine Bunker Supply Company, the Deputy
General Manager of COSCO International Trading Company and General Manager of COSCO
Industry Company. Mr. Wang is a Senior Engineer and has extensive experience in ship supplying
fuels, marine industry and paint industry.
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Mr. PAK Wai Keung, Martin
aged 40, joined the Company in January 2001, is the Financial Controller of the Company. Mr. Pak
is an associate of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants and had worked for international
accounting firms, merchant bank, industrial company and certain listed companies.

Ms. WAI Ching Sum
aged 36, joined the Company in February 1999, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a
qualified chartered secretary designated as FCIS, FCS. Ms. Wai obtained a Master of Science degree
in Financial Economics from University of London, England and a Master of Laws degree in
Chinese Law and Comparative Law from the City University of Hong Kong. Before joining the
Company, she had been a Company Secretary of other listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. ZHANG Yansheng
aged 53, joined SSCE in June 2002, is the Managing Director of SSCE. Upon his graduation from
the Tianjin Normal University in 1977, Mr. Zhang joined COSCO in the same year. He had taught
in Tianjin Mariner School and had been a division manager in Tianjin Ocean Shipping Company
from 1982 to 1990. Mr. Zhang has been in charge of the infrastructure and property development
business and involved in corporate management since 1991. He had been the chief of
Infrastructure Division of Tianjin Ocean Shipping Company, General Manager of COSCO Tianjin
Property Development Company and Chief Engineer of COSCO Tianjin Property Management
Company Limited. Mr. Zhang is a certified economist and has extensive working experience in
infrastructure and property development.

Mr. YIN Guoping
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Aged 51, joined Shanghai COSCO Honour Property Development Company Limited (“COSCO
Honour”) in February 1999, is the General Manager of the COSCO Honour. He is responsible for
the management and sale of Shanghai Fragrant Garden. Mr. Yin graduated from the First Foreign
Language University of the PLA in 1974, majoring in English Language. He had been Deputy
Division Chief of Security Bureau of Shanghai Municipal Government, Personnel Training Manager
and Security Manager of Ocean Hotel Shanghai. He has extensive experience in personnel
management and corporate management.

Mr. HUO Conglin
Aged 49, joined Shanghai Kansai and Tianjin Kansai in August 2003, is the General Manager of
both companies. Mr. Huo joined COSCO in 1982, he had been the Deputy Head of the Education
Department of COSCO, Personnel Manager of China Ocean Shipping Agency and Deputy General
Manager of COSCO Industry Company. Mr. Huo graduated from Dalian Maritime College in 1978
and has extensive experience in shipping management, paint technology and corporate
management.

Mr. CHEN Daming
aged 47, joined COSCO Ship Trading in January 1998, is the Managing Director of COSCO Ship
Trading. Mr. Chen graduated from the Dalian Maritime University in Shipping Engineering
Management in 1982 and joined COSCO Tianjin in the same year. He had been the Assistant
Engineer, Fourth Engineer, Third Engineer and traveled with COSCO’s crews all over the world. In
1987, he was assigned to work in the Shipbuilding Division of COSCO and in charge of the sale
and purchase of second-hand vessels, scrap vessels and containers businesses. Mr. Chen was
awarded with the professional qualification of Senior Engineer and has extensive experience in ship
trading.

Mr. DONG Qingbo
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Aged 50, joined Shenyang COSCO in July 2003, is the General Manager of the Shenyang COSCO.
Mr. Dong graduated from Sichuan Foreign Languages University in 1977 and obtained his degree
of Master of Business Administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University in 2003. Mr. Dong had
been General Manager of Ocean Hotel Qingdao, the Deputy General Manager of CRED, Executor
Director of COSCO Hotel Real Estate Management Company and, Vice-Chairman of Guangzhou
Yihe Group Company Limited. Mr. Dong has extensive experience in property and real estate
management.
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Mr. ZHANG Huimin
Aged 53, joined the Company in December 1997, is the General Manager of Henan XZY. Mr.
Zhang is responsible for the operation and management of the Plant. He graduated from
Hangzhou University in 1976, majoring in foreign languages. From 1977 to 1996, he worked for
Shanghai Ocean Shipping Company in the areas of shipping and shipping economic management
and held the positions of Division Chief, Deputy Division Chief and Deputy General Manager of
Shipping Division. He has also been awarded as Senior Economist by the Ministry of
Communications of the PRC.

Mr. WANG Jixin
aged 32, joined the Company in September 2002, is the General Manager of the Corporate
Management Department of the Company. Mr. Wang graduated from Renmin University of China,
majoring in real estate economics and finance. He has a degree in Master of Science in Economics.
Mr. Wang joined CRED in 1994. He was the Deputy General Manager of the Beijing Yuanquen
Real Estate Development Company Limited and the Deputy General Manager of Beijing Tianlin
Real Estate Development Company Limited. Mr. Wang had been responsible for the whole
development projects of Ocean Cityscape and Ocean Prospect in Beijing.

Ms. SUN Xian
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aged 32, joined the Company in April 2004, is the General Manager of the Finance Department of
the Company. She graduated from the Central University of Finance and Economics in 1994,
majoring in Foreign Accounting, with a Bachelor of Economics degree and obtained her Master’s
degree in Management from the same university in 2000. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Sun
was the Assistant Manager of the Finance Department of COSCO Finance Company Limited and
Manager of the Finance Department of Yuan Tong Marine Service Company Limited. She has
extensive experience in accounting and financial management.

Mr. LIN Jianhua
Aged 52, joined the Company in September 1997, is the Deputy General Manager of the Strategic
Investment Department of the Company. He graduated from Karlsruhe University, Germany, and
holds a Master’s degree of Economic Engineering. He has extensive experience in project
investment and corporate management, and has good technical background.

Mr. CHU Wai Yeung, Wallace
Aged 36, joined the Company in 2001, is the Internal Audit Manager of the Company. Mr. Chu has
a Master’s degree in Accounting in Monash University, Australia and is a member of Australia
Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Chu had worked in various listed companies and
has much experience in corporate audit.

Mr. DONG Weiguo
Aged 34, joined the Company in January 2000, is the General Manager of the Administration
Department. He graduated from Renmin University of China in 1992 and joined COSCO in the
same year. He had worked for the Executive Division of COSCO, COSCO Hong Kong and COSCO
(H.K.) Property Development Limited. He has extensive experience in administration and human
resource management.
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Directors’ Report
The directors of COSCO International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) present this report
together with the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31st December 2003.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal activities of the Group
include ship trading & supplying services, property investment & development, infrastructure
investment and building construction.
An analysis of the Group’s turnover and operating loss for the year by principal activities is set out
in note 2 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2003 and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group as at that date are set out on pages 66 to 68.

DIVIDEND
The Board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31st December 2003 (2002: nil).

FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED
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Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified under current liabilities. Details
of the long-term borrowings are set out in note 26 to the financial statements. Interest and other
borrowing costs capitalised by the Group during the year are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

DONATIONS
The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$85,000 (2002: HK$2,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 126 and 127.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Wei Jiafu (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Guoyuan (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Li Jianhong
Mr. Zhou Liancheng
Mr. Liu Hanbo (Managing Director)
Mr. He Jiale
Dr. Guo Huawei
Mr. Chen Pisen
Mr. Meng Qinghui
Mr. Zhao Kaiji
Mr. Lin Libing
Mr. Lu Zhiming
Mr. Dong Shu Sen
Mr. Liang Yanfeng
Non-Executive Director
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon

(appointed on 27th November 2003)
(appointed on 16th April 2004)

(appointed on 5th February 2004)
(appointed on 5th February 2004)
(resigned on 27th November 2003)
(resigned on 13th July 2003)
(resigned on 16th April 2004)

(redesignated as a Non-Executive Director
on 13th March 2003)

In accordance with Bye-laws 99 and 102B of the Company’s Bye-laws, all the current directors of
the Company shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall then be
eligible to offer themselves for re-election. Except Mr. Alexander Raid Hamilton, all the current
directors offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Cheong Foon, Andrew
Mr. Alexander Reid Hamilton
Mr. Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec
(appointed on 5th February 2004)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year and up to the date of this report, the following directors of the Company are
considered to have interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”) as set out below:

Name of director
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Name of
businesses which
are considered
to compete
or likely to
compete with
the businesses
of the Group

Description of
businesses of the
entity which
are considered
to compete
or likely to
compete with
the businesses
of the Group

Nature of
director’s
interest
in the entity

Dr. Wei Jiafu

Companies controlled
— Property
by 中國遠洋運輸
investment and
（集團）總 公 司
development
(China Ocean Shipping — Ship trading and
(Group) Company)
supplying services
(“COSCO”)

Director

Mr. Liu Guoyuan

COSCO (Hong Kong)
— Property
Group Limited
investment and
(“COSCO Hong Kong”)
development
and its associated
— Ship trading and
companies
supplying services

Director

Mr. Li Jianhong

Companies controlled
by COSCO

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Mr. Zhou Liancheng

COSCO Hong Kong
and its associated
companies

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Name of director

Name of
businesses which
are considered
to compete
or likely to
compete with
the businesses
of the Group

Description of
businesses of the
entity which
are considered
to compete
or likely to
compete with
the businesses
of the Group

Nature of
director’s
interest
in the entity

Soundwill Holdings
Limited

— Property
investment and
development

Non-executive
Vice-chairman

Mr. He Jiale

COSCO Hong Kong
and its associated
companies

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Dr. Guo Huawei

Companies controlled
by COSCO

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Mr. Chen Pisen

Companies controlled
by COSCO
Hong Kong

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director
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Name of director
Mr. Meng Qinghui

Name of
businesses which
are considered
to compete
or likely to
compete with
the businesses
of the Group

Description of
businesses of the
entity which
are considered
to compete
or likely to
compete with
the businesses
of the Group

Nature of
director’s
interest
in the entity

Companies controlled
by COSCO
Hong Kong

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Soundwill Holdings
Limited

— Property
investment and
development

Non-executive
Director

COSCO Hong Kong
and its associated
companies

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Companies controlled
by COSCO

— Property
investment and
development
— Ship trading and
supplying services

Director

Ex-director
Mr. Lu Zhiming
(Note 1)
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Mr. Liang Yanfeng
(Note 2)

Notes:
1.

Mr. Lu Zhiming resigned as an Executive Director of the Company on 27th November 2003.

2.

Mr. Liang Yanfeng resigned as an Executive Director of the Company on 16th April 2004.

As the Board is independent from the boards of the aforesaid companies, and as none of the above
directors of the Company control the Board, the Group is capable of carrying its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of these companies.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, the following connected transactions of the Company
require disclosure in the annual report of the Company. The connected transactions which also
constitute significant related party transactions are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.
1.

On 29th May 2002, the Stock Exchange granted the Company conditional waivers from strict
compliance with the Listing Rules to the connected transactions for the provision of agency
services (the “Transactions”) entered into between COSCO International Ship Trading
Company Limited (“COSCO Ship Trading”), a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company, and
COSCO and its subsidiaries (the “COSCO Group”) (other than the Group) for each of the
Group’s three financial years ending 31st December 2002, 2003 and 2004 in respect of (a)
the sale and purchase of new and second hand vessels, (b) bareboat charter businesses, and
(c) the sale and purchase of marine equipment for new ship-building projects, which were of
a regular and continuing nature. The Transactions for the year ended 31st December 2003
amounted to US$5,235,106 (equivalent to HK$40,833,827).
The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company reviewed the Transactions and
confirmed that
(a)

the Transactions were approved by the Independent Shareholders at a special general
meeting held on 18th June 2002, of which COSCO and its associates abstained from
voting;

(b)

the Transactions had been:
carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii)

conducted on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) entered into in accordance with the terms of the relevant engagement/commission
agreements; and
(c)

the aggregate amount of the Transactions for the financial year ended 31st December
2003 did not exceed HK$52,000,000.

The auditors of the Company reviewed the Transactions and confirmed that:
(a)

the Transactions had received the approval of the Board;

(b)

the Transactions had been entered into in accordance with the terms of the relevant
engagement/commission agreements; and
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(c)
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the aggregate amount of the Transactions for the financial year ended 31st December
2003 did not exceed HK$52,000,000.

2.

On 24th January 2003, the Group entered into a share transfer and capital injection
agreement and a joint venture agreement for the acquisition of a 23.4% equity interest in 中遠
房 地 產 開 發 有 限 公 司 (COSCO Real Estate Development Co., Ltd) (“CRED”), a former 50%
owned company of COSCO, from COSCO for a cash consideration of RMB191,750,000 and
the participation in the capital injection by the Group for an aggregate amount of
RMB26,510,000. Completion took place on 31st July 2003 with the Group then owning a
20% of the enlarged registered capital in CRED. On 24th January 2003, a sale and purchase
agreement was signed for the sale of the Group’s entire 49% equity interest in Tian Lin
Property Development Co., Ltd. (“Tian Lin”), a jointly controlled entity, to a subsidiary of
CRED for a cash consideration of RMB62,630,000 and for the repayment by Tian Lin of the
outstanding shareholder’s loan advanced by the Group of RMB226,760,000. Completion of
the transaction took place on 31st July 2003.

3.

On 14th May 2003, a sale and purchase agreement was entered into between Top Expert
Enterprises Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as vendor and COSCO
Information Technology Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COSCO Hong Kong, as
purchaser for the sale and purchase of 0.91% of the issued share capital of COSCO Network
Limited at a consideration of US$1,000,000.

4.

On 12th June 2003, a conditional co-operative agreement was entered into among Success
Gate Investments Limited (“Success Gate”), 廣 州 遠 洋 建 設 實 業 公 司 (COSCO Guangzhou
Construction Industry Company) (“COSCO GZ”) and 廣 州 頤 和 投 資 發 展 有 限 公 司
(Guangzhou Yihe Investment and Development Co., Ltd) (“Guangzhou Yihe”) to form a sinoforeign equity joint venture company, Shenyang COSCO Yihe Property Development Co., Ltd
(“Shenyang COSCO”), to develop a real estate development project in Shenyang — Yihe
Garden (the “Development”). Success Gate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
COSCO GZ is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COSCO. The total investment amount for
Shenyang COSCO was RMB240,000,000. Completion took place on 31st July 2003 and
Success Gate has a 51% equity interest in Shenyang COSCO. As part of the co-operative
agreement, Success Gate will advance shareholder’s loan of up to an aggregate sum of
US$6,160,000, on a pro-rata basis according to the equity interests of the joint venture
parties, to Shenyang COSCO to finance the Development. The shareholder’s loan is interestfree for the first US$3,840,000 and LIBOR + 5% per annum for the balance of the
shareholder’s loan. The shareholder’s loan will be fully repaid on or before 21st July 2008.
Success Gate has not advanced any shareholder’s loan during the year of 2003.

5.

On 14th August 2003, two conditional sale and purchase agreements were entered into
between the Company as purchaser, and 中 遠 工 業 公 司 (COSCO Industry Company)
(“COSCO Industry”) and Shen-John Investment Company L. L. C. (“Shen-John”) as vendors,
for the sale and purchase of an aggregate 34.19% equity interest in each of Shanghai COSCO
Kansai Paint & Chemicals Co., Ltd. and Tianjin COSCO Kansai Paint & Chemicals Co., Ltd.
(the “Kansai Companies”).
Subsequently on 25th November 2003, a further four conditional sale and purchase
agreements were entered into between the Company as purchaser, and 中 遠 太 平 洋（中 國）投
資 有 限 公 司 (COSCO Pacific (China) Investments Co., Ltd) (“COSCO Pacific China”), Florens
Industrial Holdings Limited (“Florens”) and 天 津 遠 洋 運 輸 公 司 (Tianjin COSCO Ocean
Shipping Company) (“Tianjin Transport”) as vendors, for the sale and purchase of an aggregate
28.88% equity interest in each of the Kansai Companies. COSCO Industry, Shen-John,
COSCO Pacific China, Florens and Tianjin Transport are subsidiaries of COSCO. The total
consideration for the acquisition of an aggregate of the 63.07% equity interest in the Kansai
Companies was RMB116,830,990. Completion of the transactions took place on 7th January
2004.
The Stock Exchange granted the Company conditional waivers on 18th February 2004 from
strict compliance with connected transaction provisions of the Listing Rules for the
transactions (the “Kansai Ongoing Transactions”) entered into between the Kansai Companies,
and COSCO Group (other than the Group) and Kansai Paint Co., Ltd. (“Japan Kansai”) such
that (a) the annual technology usage fee payable by the Kansai Companies to Japan Kansai
shall not exceed HK$4 million, (b) the annual purchase of raw materials by the Kansai
Companies from Japan Kansai and its subsidiaries (the “Kansai Group”) should not exceed
HK$44 million, (c) the annual commission paid by the Kansai Companies to Kansai Group
shall not exceed HK$5 million, (d) the annual sale of container paints and vessels paints paid
by the Kansai Companies to COSCO Group shall not exceed HK$178 million, and (e) the
annual commission paid by the Kansai Companies to COSCO Group shall not exceed HK$11
million for each of the Group’s three financial years ending 31st December 2003, 2004 and
2005. As completion of the transactions took place on 7th January 2004, there were no Kansai
Ongoing Transactions for the year ended 31st December 2003.

7.

On 14th August 2003, a conditional sale and purchase agreement was entered into between
the Company as purchaser and COSCO Industry as vendor for the sale and purchase of a 10%
equity interest in International Paint of Shanghai Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai International”) at a
consideration of RMB17,138,000. The acquisition will be completed by the midst of 2004
when the conditions precedent are fulfilled.
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8.

On 12th January 2004, eleven tenancy agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) were entered
into between Tian Lee Property Limited, Velu Exports Limited, Wing Thye Holdings Limited,
Year Of The Rat Corp. and 99 Prove Finance Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, as landlords, and COSCO Hong Kong and certain subsidiaries of COSCO Hong
Kong as tenants for the leasing of portions of the 47th–51st floors of COSCO Tower (the
“Tenancy Transactions”) for a term of about 3 years (except for the term of COSCO Pacific
Management Company Limited which is for 2 years) and an option to renew for a further 3
years (except for COSCO Pacific Management Company Limited which has a renewable
option for a further 1 year), at an aggregate monthly rental of HK$2,428,744. COSCO Hong
Kong guarantees the performance of each tenant, excluding itself as a tenant, under the ten
tenancy agreements for an amount, equal to 3 times of the monthly rent under the respective
tenancy agreements.
The Stock Exchange granted to the Company conditional waivers on 5th February 2004 from
strict compliance with connected transaction provisions of the Listing Rules for the tenancies
contemplated under the Tenancy Agreements (the “Tenancy Transactions”) in respect of the
rent receivable by the Group under the initial term and subsequent renewed term (if
applicable) of the Tenancy Transactions for each of the three financial years ending 31st
December 2004, 2005 and 2006 which shall not exceed HK$30,054,000.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
Under paragraph 3.7.1 of Practice Note 19 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange, the
Company discloses the following loan agreement which contain covenants requiring specific
performance obligations of the controlling shareholder:
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1.

A HK$700,970,000 secured term loan facility was granted by Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited to the Company in August 1998 and amended on 9th June, 2001 and 20th October
2003 to finance the acquisition of the eight floors of COSCO Tower. The secured term loan
facility is repayable on or before 19th October 2008. The loan is guaranteed unconditionally
and irrevocably by COSCO Hong Kong which undertakes, amongst other conditions, that:
(a)

it will procure that COSCO will maintain an equity or shareholding interest, either
directly or indirectly, giving rise to more than 50% of the voting rights attached to the
issued share capital of COSCO Hong Kong and will ensure that such equity or
shareholding interest is not disposed of in any way by COSCO and remains free from
any security interest (save for any of such existing thereon prior to the date of the
guarantee);

2.

(b)

it will maintain an equity interest, either directly or indirectly, of not less than 35% in
COSCO Pacific Limited (“COSCO Pacific”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, and
such equity interest remains free from any security interest (save for any of such existing
thereon prior to the date of the guarantee); and

(c)

it will procure that the ultimate holding company will maintain an equity interest, either
directly or indirectly, of not less than 35% in the Company and such equity or
shareholding interest being the single largest equity or shareholding interest in the
Company.

An un-secured loan and credit facility of US$45,000,000 to finance the general working
capital and corporate funding requirement of the Company was granted by China Merchants
Bank, Hong Kong Branch, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and
Hang Seng Bank Limited, Shanghai Branch to the Company on 8th March 2004. The unsecured loan and credit facility will be repayable on or before 8th March 2009. The loan is
guaranteed unconditionally and irrevocably by COSCO Hong Kong which undertakes,
amongst other conditions, that:
(a)

it shall directly or indirectly beneficially maintain an equity or shareholding interest of
not less than 35% of the voting rights attached to the issued share capital of each of the
Company and COSCO Pacific, which shall maintain their listings on the Stock Exchange.

(b)

it shall be more than 50% beneficially owned by COSCO .

SHARE OPTIONS

1.

Purpose of the Scheme:
(a)

For the Group to attract, retain and motivate talented participants to strive for future
development and expansion of the Group.

(b)

An incentive to encourage the participants and allow the participants to enjoy the results
of the Company attained through their efforts and contributions.
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Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by the shareholders on
17th May 2002, the following is a summary of the Scheme disclosed in accordance with the Listing
Rules:
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2.

3.

Participants of the Scheme:
a.

any director of the Group;

b.

any director of the substantial shareholder of the Company;

c.

any employee of the Group;

d.

any employee of the Company’s substantial shareholder or any employee of such
substantial shareholder’s subsidiaries or associated companies;

e.

any business associate of the Group; and

f.

any business associate of any substantial shareholder of each member of the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme and % as against issued share
capital as at 31st December 2003:
The number of share options available for issue under the Scheme is 139,438,929 shares
representing 10% of the issued share capital as at 31st December 2003.

4.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme:
The maximum entitlement for each participant is that the total number of shares of the
Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue. Any grant of further
options above this limit shall be subject to certain requirements as stipulated in the rules of
the Scheme.

5.

The period within which shares must be taken up under an option:
Not applicable.

6.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised:
There is and shall be no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised.

7.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must be paid:
The option shall be deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate letter duly signed by
the Grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the Company. If the offer is not accepted
within 28 days in the manner aforesaid, it will be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

8.

The basis of determining the exercise price:
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company and shall be the highest of :

9.

(a)

the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the offer date;

(b)

the average closing price of shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the offer date; and

(c)

the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The remaining life of the scheme:
The Scheme will expire on 16th May 2012.
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Details of the share options to subscribe for shares of the Company granted to eligible persons
during the year under review are shown as follows:
Number of share options
Outstanding at

Granted

Exercised

Outstanding

Percentage

Lapsed

as at 31st

of total

December issued share

1st January

during

during

during

2003

the year

the year

the year

2003

capital

Dr. Wei Jiafu

–

1,800,000

–

–

1,800,000

0.129%

Mr. Liu Guoyuan

–

1,800,000

–

–

1,800,000

0.129%

Mr. Li Jianhong

–

1,800,000

–

–

1,800,000

0.129%

Mr. Zhou Liancheng

–

1,800,000

–

–

1,800,000

0.129%

Mr. Liu Hanbo

–

1,800,000

–

–

1,800,000

0.129%

Mr. He Jiale

–

1,800,000

–

–

1,800,000

0.129%

Mr. Chen Pisen

–

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

0.086%

Mr. Meng Qinghui

–

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

0.086%

Mr. Zhao Kaiji

–

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

0.086%

Mr. Lin Libing

–

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

0.086%

–

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

0.086%

–

28,000,000

–

–

28,000,000

2.008%

–

34,200,000

–

–

34,200,000

2.453%

Directors

Ex-director
Mr. Liang Yanfeng
Continuous contract
employees of the Group
Other participants
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Notes:
1.

These share options were granted on 26th November 2003 and are exercisable at HK$0.57 per share at any time
between 23rd December 2003 and 22nd December 2008.

2.

Other participants include employees of COSCO Group (other than the directors of the Company and the continuous
contract employees of the Group).

3.

The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on 25th
November 2003, being the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant share options, was
HK$0.58 per share.

During the year, no share options were exercised and no weighted average closing price of the
shares of the Company immediately before the dates on which the share options were exercised
can be calculated.

Concerning the share options granted during the year, the directors do not consider it appropriate
to disclose a theoretical value of the options granted because a number of factors crucial for the
valuation cannot be determined. Such factors include the exercise period and the conditions that
an option is subject to. Accordingly, any valuation of the options based on various speculative
assumptions would not be meaningful.
Particulars and movements of the Company’s share options during the year are also set out in note
24 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
As at 31st December 2003, the interests of each Director and chief executive of the Company in
the equity or debt securities of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Director has taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:
1.

Long positions in shares of associated corporation
Number of
Name of associated

shares held

Percentage of

Personal

total issued

Name of director

Capacity

interests

share capital

COSCO Pacific

Mr. Kwong Che Keung,

Beneficial

250,000

0.012%

Gordon

owner
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2.

Long positions in underlying shares of equity derivatives of associated corporation
Number of share options
Personal interest
Name of
associated
corporation

Director

COSCO Pacific

Directors
Dr. Wei Jiafu

COSCO Pacific
COSCO Pacific
COSCO Pacific
COSCO Pacific
COSCO Pacific
COSCO Pacific
COSCO Pacific

COSCO Pacific

Note:
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Outstanding
as at
1st January,
Capacity
2003

Beneficial
owner
Mr. Liu Guoyuan
Beneficial
owner
Mr. Li Jianhong
Beneficial
owner
Mr. Zhou Liancheng Beneficial
owner
Mr. Liu Hanbo
Beneficial
owner
Mr. He Jiale
Beneficial
owner
Mr. Chen Pisen
Beneficial
owner
Mr. Meng Qinghui
Beneficial
owner
Ex-director
Mr. Liang Yanfeng
Beneficial
owner

Outstanding Percentage
Lapsed as at 31st
of total
during December, issued share
the year
2003
capital

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

–

1,000,000

–

–

1,000,000

0.047%

–

1,000,000

–

–

1,000,000

0.047%

–

800,000

–

–

800,000

0.037%

–

800,000

–

–

800,000

0.037%

–

700,000

–

–

700,000

0.033%

–

700,000

–

–

700,000

0.033%

–

250,000

–

–

250,000

0.012%

–

800,000

–

–

800,000

0.037%

–

800,000

–

–

800,000

0.037%

These share options were granted during the period from 28th October 2003 to 6th November 2003 and are
exercisable at HK$9.54 per share for 10 years from their respective date on which an offer is accepted or
deemed to be accepted pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 23rd May 2003.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Share Options”, as at 31st December 2003,
none of the directors and the chief executive of the Company had any interest in the share capital
or debt securities of the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the Director
has taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December 2003, the interests of shareholders in the shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity

COSCO

True Smart International Limited *

Interest of controlled
corporation
Interest of controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner

COSCO Investments Limited *

Beneficial owner

COSCO Hong Kong *

*

Nature of
interest
Corporate
interest
Corporate
interest
Beneficial
interest
Beneficial
interest

Number of Percentage of
shares held
total issued
Long Positions share capital
829,360,511

59.48%

829,360,511

59.48%

527,060,904

37.80%

302,299,607

21.68%

These companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COSCO and their interests in the shares of the Company were
included in the interests held by COSCO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2003, the Company has not been notified of any
interests in the shares of the Company and underlying and short positions in shares of the Company,
which had been recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES

During the year ended 31st December 2003, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
redeemed, purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31st December 2003 with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has established an Audit Committee for the review and supervision of the Group’s
financial reporting process and internal controls in order to protect the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in Bermuda being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
On behalf of the Board
LIU Hanbo
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 16th April 2004
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Auditors’

Report

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
COSCO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the financial statements on pages 66 to 122 which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements which give a true
and fair view. In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.
Basis of Opinion

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at 31st December 2003 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 16th April 2004

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the Group, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.
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Consolidated

Income Statement

For the year ended 31st December 2003

Note
TURNOVER
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other revenues
Other operating income
Other charges
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
OPERATING LOSS
Finance costs
Share of results of associated companies
Share of results of jointly controlled entities
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Taxation

2

2
3

3
4

5

LOSS AFTER TAXATION
Minority interests
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LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

LOSS PER SHARE
— BASIC

— FULLY DILUTED

6 & 25

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

939,680
(835,885)

583,508
(485,639)

103,795
4,934
23,058
(136,414)
(67,139)
(2,120)

97,869
7,472
979
(539,043)
(68,915)
(6,199)

(73,886)
(25,556)
–
9,880

(507,837)
(32,442)
1,947
7,242

(89,562)
(18,525)

(531,090)
(14,311)

(108,087)
(8,619)

(545,401)
7,345

(116,706)

(538,056)

(8.37cents)

(38.59 cents)

7

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Consolidated

Balance Sheet

As at 31st December 2003

Note

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

GOODWILL
FIXED ASSETS
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
OTHER INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
INVESTMENT SECURITIES
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

9
10
12
13
14
15
21

37,624
1,007,969
2,784
206,900
56,490
45,976
4,392

39,658
1,101,740
2,784
262,744
77,868
62,645
54,129

CURRENT ASSETS
Properties under development for sale
Completed properties held for sale
Trade and other receivables
Short-term investments
Cash and bank balances

16
17
18
20
21

122,556
56,943
262,261
243
554,930

165,200
68,614
181,817
9,238
486,117

996,933
910,986
----------------- ----------------CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Taxation
Current portion of long-term bank loans
Bank loans — unsecured

22
26
23

433,007
16,610
99,230
157,990

348,363
5,622
90,000
65,000

706,837
508,985
----------------- ----------------NET CURRENT ASSETS

402,001

1,652,231

2,003,569

Financed by:
SHARE CAPITAL
RESERVES

24
25

139,439
747,633

139,439
864,846

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
LONG-TERM BANK LOANS
MINORITY INTERESTS

26

887,072
677,900
87,259

1,004,285
951,281
48,003

1,652,231

2,003,569

LIU Hanbo
Managing Director

LIN Libing
Deputy Managing Director
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Balance

Sheet

As at 31st December 2003

Note

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

FIXED ASSETS
SUBSIDIARIES

10
11

509
1,534,934

969
1,814,067

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables
Short-term investments
Cash and bank balances

18
20

4,017
–
141,397

4,038
33
171,797

145,414
175,868
-------------------------------CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables
Taxation
Current portion of long-term bank loans

22
26

3,036
1,264
99,230

5,699
1,264
90,000

103,530
96,963
-------------------------------NET CURRENT ASSETS
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41,884

78,905

1,577,327

1,893,941

Financed by:
SHARE CAPITAL
RESERVES

24
25

139,439
759,988

139,439
876,502

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
LONG-TERM BANK LOANS

26

899,427
677,900

1,015,941
878,000

1,577,327

1,893,941

LIU Hanbo
Managing Director

LIN Libing
Deputy Managing Director

Consolidated

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December 2003

Note
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS AS AT 1st JANUARY
Net losses not recognised in the income statement
Exchange differences arising on translation of the
financial statements of China Mainland subsidiaries
and jointly controlled entity
Loss for the year
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS AS AT 31st DECEMBER

25
25

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

1,004,285

1,542,357

(507)
(116,706)
887,072

(16)
(538,056)
1,004,285
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Consolidated

Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st December 2003

Note
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash inflow generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas profits tax refunded/(paid)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of fixed assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity
Repayment of/(advances to) jointly controlled entities
Decrease in restricted bank deposits and cash
investments with maturity over three months
Income from other investment in a joint venture received
Interest received
Dividend received
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of jointly controlled entities
Proceeds from disposal of investment securities
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NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CASH FLOW BEFORE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
— Carried forward

28(a)

2003
HK$’000

90,784
(3,167)
1,678

2002
HK$’000

419,991
(5,148)
(18,020)

89,295
396,823
---------------- --------------

(2,137)
–
(206,863)
207,661

(3,062)
(13,503)
–
(47,904)

25,706
17,464
3,829
1,105
762
71,345
7,776

89,561
4,806
5,636
1,836
351
–
27,059

126,648
64,780
---------------- --------------

215,943

461,603

For the year ended 31st December 2003

Note
NET CASH FLOW BEFORE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
— Brought forward
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Drawdown of bank loans
Repayment of bank loans
Dividends paid to minority shareholders
Interest paid
Capital contribution from a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

215,943
461,603
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

28(b)
28(b)
28(b)

92,990
(264,151)
(15,398)
(30,130)
46,035

370,781
(731,857)
(4,338)
(38,118)
–

(170,654)
(403,532)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -- - - - - - - - - - - - - - 45,289
368,489
(507)

58,071
310,418
–

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

413,271

368,489

559,322

540,246

(146,051)

(171,757)

413,271

368,489

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Restricted bank deposits and cash investments with
maturity more than three months from the date of
investment
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INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Changes in exchange rates
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Notes
1.

to the Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable Statements of
Standard Accounting Practice (‘‘SSAP’’) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (‘‘HKSA’’), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong, and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘‘Group’’) adopted the revised SSAP 12
‘‘Income taxes’’ issued by the HKSA which is effective for accounting periods commencing on or
after 1st January 2003. The adoption of this revised SSAP does not have a material effect on the
Group’s results or net assets.
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 2003 financial statements
are as follows:
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(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is historical cost
except that, as disclosed in the accounting policies below, certain investment properties and
short-term investments are stated at fair values.

(c)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries made up to 31st December each year. The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are dealt with in the consolidated income statement from the
effective dates of acquisition or to the effective dates of disposal respectively, as appropriate.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.
Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders in the operating results and net
assets of subsidiaries.

(d)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Group controls the composition of the board of
directors, controls more than half of the voting power or holds more than half of the issued share
capital.

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(d)

Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

(e)

Associated companies
An associated company is a company, not being a subsidiary, in which an equity interest is held
for the long term and significant influence is exercised in its management.
The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of the results of associated
companies for the year, and the consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associated companies and goodwill/negative goodwill on acquisition (net of
accumulated amortisation).

(f)

(i)

Jointly controlled entities
The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of the results of jointly
controlled entities for the year, and the consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s
share of the net assets of the jointly controlled entities and goodwill/negative goodwill on
acquisition (net of accumulated amortisation).

(ii)

Other investment in a joint venture
Other investment in a joint venture is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided to write-off the investment cost
of the joint venture less accumulated impairment losses over the joint venture period on a
basis whereby the annual investment income less amortisation for the year would produce
a constant periodic rate of return on the carrying amount of the investment in the joint
venture. Provision is made when, in the opinion of the directors, there is an impairment in
value of investment in a joint venture.

Goodwill or negative goodwill on consolidation
Goodwill or negative goodwill arising on consolidation represents the deficit or excess,
respectively, of the fair value of the separable net assets of the subsidiaries, associated
companies and jointly controlled entities at the respective acquisition dates over the value of the
considerations paid.
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(g)

Joint venture
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an
economic activity which is subject to joint control and none of the participating parties has
unilateral control over the economic activity.
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1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(g)

Goodwill or negative goodwill on consolidation (Cont’d)
Goodwill on acquisitions occurred on or after 1st January 2001 is capitalised and amortised
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life.
Negative goodwill on acquisitions occurred on or after 1st January 2001 is presented in the same
balance sheet classification as goodwill. To the extent that negative goodwill relates to
expectations of future losses and expenses that are identified in the Group’s plan for the
acquisition and can be measured reliably, but which do not represent identifiable liabilities at
the date of acquisition, that portion of negative goodwill is recognised in the income statement
when the future losses and expenses are recognised. Any remaining negative goodwill, not
exceeding the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired, is recognised in the income
statement over the remaining weighted average useful life of those assets; negative goodwill in
excess of the fair values of those non-monetary assets is recognised in the income statement
immediately.
Goodwill/negative goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1st January 2001 was directly
eliminated against/taken to reserves and has not been restated.
The gain or loss on disposal of an entity includes the unamortised balance of goodwill/negative
goodwill relating to the entity disposed of or, for pre 1st January 2001 acquisitions, the related
goodwill eliminated against/negative goodwill taken to reserves to the extent that it has not
previously been realised in the income statement.
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Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of goodwill, including goodwill
previously eliminated against reserves, is assessed and written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.
(h)

Properties
(i)
Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings in respect of which construction
work and development have been completed and which are held for their investment
potential, any rental income being negotiated at arm’s length.

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(h)

Properties (Cont’d)
(i)
Investment properties (Cont’d)
Investment properties held on leases with unexpired periods greater than twenty years are
valued at intervals of not more than three years by independent valuers; in each of the
intervening years valuations are undertaken by either independent professional valuers or
professionally qualified executives of the Group. The valuations are on an open market
value basis related to individual properties and separate values are not attributed to land
and buildings. The valuations are incorporated in the annual accounts. Surpluses arising
on revaluation are credited to the investment property revaluation reserve; deficits arising
on revaluation are firstly set off against any previous revaluation surpluses on a portfolio
basis and thereafter taken to the income statement. Any subsequent increases are credited
to the income statement up to the amount previously debited.
Depreciation is provided for investment properties with unexpired lease terms of twenty
years or less and is calculated to write-off the carrying value on a straight line basis over
the remaining term of the leases.
Upon the disposal of an investment property, the relevant portion of the revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is released from the investment properties
revaluation reserve to the income statement.
Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold land and buildings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Leasehold land is depreciated over the period of the lease
while buildings are depreciated at a rate of 2% per annum.

(iii)

Properties under development for sale
Properties under development for sale are included in current assets and stated at cost plus
attributable profits taken to date, less provisions for any foreseeable losses and sales
instalments received and receivable. Cost includes the cost of land, development
expenditure, other attributable expenses and borrowing costs capitalised.
The accounting policy for recognition of revenue from sale of properties under
development for sale is set out in note 1(v)(i)(1).

(iv)

Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties held for sale are included as current assets and stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by reference to estimated
sales proceeds of the properties sold in the ordinary course of business less estimated
selling expenses.
The accounting policy for recognition of revenue from sale of completed properties is set
out in note 1(v)(i)(2).
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1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(i)

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated at rates sufficient to write-off their costs less
accumulated impairment losses over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal annual rates are as follows:
Machinery
Equipment and motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures

162/3 %
20% – 331/3 %
20% – 331/3 %
20% – 331/3 %

Major costs incurred in restoring other tangible fixed assets to their normal working condition to
allow continued use of the overall assets are charged to the income statement. Improvements are
capitalised and depreciated over their expected useful lives to the Group.
(j)
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Impairment and gain or loss on sale
At each balance sheet date, both internal and external sources of information are considered to
assess whether there is any indication that assets included in leasehold land and buildings and
other tangible fixed assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset to
its recoverable amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
The gain or loss on disposal of a fixed asset other than investment properties is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised
in the income statement.

(k)

Investments in securities
(i)
Investment securities
Investment securities are stated at cost less any provision for diminution in value.
The carrying amounts of individual investments are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
assess whether the fair values have declined below the carrying amounts. When a decline
other than temporary has occurred, the carrying amount of such securities should be
reduced to its fair value. The amount of the reduction is recognised as an expense in the
income statement.

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(k)

Investments in securities (Cont’d)
(i)
Investment securities (Cont’d)
Provision against the carrying amounts of individual investments should be written back to
income statement when the circumstances and events that led to the write-downs or writeoffs cease to exist and there is evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist
for the foreseeable future. The amount written back should not exceed the amount of the
write-downs.
(ii)

(l)

Short-term investments
Short-term investments are carried at fair value. At each balance sheet date, the net
unrealised gains or losses arising from the changes in fair value of investments are
recognised in the income statement. Profits or losses on disposal of short-term investments,
representing the differences between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amounts, are
recognised in the income statement as they arise.

The accounting policy for recognition of contract revenue is set out in note 1(v)(ii).
(m) Assets under operating leases
Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the
lessors are accounted for as operating leases. Rentals applicable to such operating leases, net of
any incentives received from the lessors, are charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
(n)

Accounts receivable
Provision is made against accounts receivable to the extent that they are considered to be
doubtful. Accounts receivable in the balance sheet are stated net of such provision.
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Construction contracts in progress
Construction contracts in progress are stated at cost plus attributable profits less allowances for
foreseeable losses and progress payments received and receivable. Contract costs comprise
direct materials, direct labour, sub-contracting charges and an appropriate portion of
construction overheads. Where progress billings received and receivable on construction
contracts exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the net amount is treated as amounts due to contract customers. Where contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings received and
receivable on construction contracts, the net amount is treated as amounts due from contract
customers.
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1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(o)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash
flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks and cash investments with a maturity of three months or less from date of investment.

(p)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. When the Group expects a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain.

(q)

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.
A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.

(r)
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Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are used to
determine deferred taxation.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(r)

Deferred taxation (Cont’d)
In prior years, deferred taxation was accounted for at the current tax rate in respect of timing
differences between the profit as computed for taxation purposes and the profit as stated in the
financial statements to the extent that a liability or an asset was expected to be payable or
recoverable in the foreseeable future.
The adoption of the revised SSAP 12 in this year does not have a material effect on the financial
statements for the year ended 31st December 2003.

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are
translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising in
these cases are dealt with in the income statement.
The balance sheets of subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly controlled entities
expressed in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date whilst the income statement is translated at an average rate. Exchange differences arising
therefrom are dealt with as a movement in reserves.

(t)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

(u)

Pensions and retirement benefits
Following the adoption of the Mandatory Provident Fund (‘‘MPF’’) Scheme in December 2000,
all staff of the Group employed in Hong Kong joined the MPF Scheme. Under this scheme,
employees and the Group are required to make contributions to the scheme calculated at 5% of
the individual employee’s monthly basic salaries, subject to a cap of HK$1,000. The Group’s
contributions to this scheme are expensed as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.
The Group also contributes to employee pension schemes established by municipal government
in respect of certain subsidiaries in the China Mainland. The municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the
Group.
Contributions to these schemes are charged to the income statement as incurred.
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All other borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the year in which they are
incurred.
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1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(v)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that economic benefits associated with the
transactions during the year will flow to the Group and these benefits can be measured reliably
on the following bases.
(i)

Sale of properties
(1) Properties under development for sale
When a development property is sold in advance of completion, recognition of profit
commences when a legally binding sale and purchase agreement has been executed.
The profit recognised in a year is computed as a proportion of the total estimated
profit to completion and such proportion is taken to be the percentage of
construction costs incurred at the end of the year to the estimated total
construction costs on completion, with due allowance for contingencies. The
profit so recognised is restricted to the amount of instalments received.
(2)
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Completed properties held for sale
Revenue from sale of completed properties held for sale is recognised upon
completion of the sale and purchase contracts.

(ii)

Construction contracts
Revenue from construction contracts is recognised based on the stage of completion of the
contracts when the outcome of the contracts can be ascertained with reasonable certainty.
The stage of completion of a contract is established by reference to the gross billing value
of contracting work to date as certified by qualified architects and/or engineers as
compared to the total sum under the contract.

(iii)

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the terms of the respective leases.

(iv)

Income from other investment in a joint venture
Income from other investment in a joint venture is recognised when the right to receive
investment income is established.

(v)

Commission income
Commission income from agency services is recognised when the terms of the agency
contracts are fulfilled upon provision of services.

(vi)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal
amounts outstanding and the interest rates applicable.

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(v)

2.

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
(vii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is principally engaged in property investment and development, building construction,
infrastructure investment and provision of ship trading and supplying services. Turnover and revenues
recognised during the year are as follows:

Turnover
Sale of properties
Building construction
Rental income
Income from other investment in a joint venture
Commission income
Building management fee income

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

217,134
601,589
54,852
22,839
41,749
1,517

178,397
312,076
56,860
19,730
15,350
1,095

939,680
583,508
--------------- ---------------

3,829
1,105

5,636
1,836

4,934
7,472
--------------- --------------Total revenues

944,614

590,980
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Other revenues
Interest income
Dividend income from listed investment securities
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2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Primary reporting format — business segments
The Group is organised into five main business segments:
Property development
Building construction
Infrastructure investment
Property investment
Ship trading

—
—
—
—
—

development of properties in Hong Kong and the China Mainland
construction of buildings
investment in a power plant project
holding of properties for rental purpose
trading of vessels, marine equipment and bareboat charter business

Other operations of the Group comprise mainly holding of investment securities and provision of
building management services, neither of which are of a sufficient size to be reported separately.
There are no transactions between business segments.
Secondary reporting format — geographical segments
The Group’s business segments operated in Hong Kong and the China Mainland are as follows:
Hong Kong
China Mainland

—
—

all of the Group’s business segments except for infrastructure investment
property development and investment and infrastructure investment

There are no transactions between geographical segments.
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2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Primary reporting format — business segments
Property
Building
development construction

Segment turnover

Segment results

Property Infrastructure
investment
investment

2003

2003

2003

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

217,134

601,589

54,852

13,851

(69,368)

(28,309)

2003

Ship
trading

Other
operations

Group

2003

2003

2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$’000 HK$’000

22,839

41,749

1,517 939,680

42

20,471

3,360

(59,953)

Unallocated corporate
expenses, net of
income

(13,933)

Operating loss

(73,886)

Finance costs

(25,556)

Share of results of
jointly controlled
entities

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss after taxation

–

–

–

–

–

9,880

(89,562)
(18,525)

(108,087)
(8,619)

Loss attributable to
shareholders

(116,706)
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Minority interests

9,880
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2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Primary reporting format — business segments (Cont’d)
Property
Building
Property Infrastructure
Ship
Other
development construction investment
investment
trading operations
2003
2003
2003
2003
2003
2003
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000 HK$’000
HK$’000
Segment assets
Associated companies
Jointly controlled entity
Investment securities
Unallocated assets

443,985
–
206,900
–

208,817
2,784
–
–

1,098,761
–
–
–

84,240
–
–
–

103,024
–
–
–

– 1,938,827
–
2,784
–
206,900
45,976
45,976
164,581
2,359,068

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Taxation
Unallocated liabilities

53,781

544,409

726,483

92

33,544

– 1,358,309
16,610
9,818
1,384,737

Total liabilities
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The segment results have
been arrived at after
charging:
Depreciation and
amortisation
Deficit on revaluation of
investment properties
Impairment loss on fixed
assets
Provision for diminution
in value of investment
security
Provision for claims on
certain construction
contracts
Legal costs in respect of
litigation on certain
construction projects
Provision for completed
properties held for sale

Capital expenditure

Group
2003
HK$’000

479

2,232

16,625

21,378

2,736

–

43,450

–

–

70,966

–

–

–

70,966

–

2,855

–

–

–

–

2,855

–

–

–

–

–

8,893

8,893

–

27,899

–

–

–

–

27,899

–

14,530

–

–

–

–

14,530

11,271

–

–

–

–

–

11,271

925

636

–

–

576

–

2,137

2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Primary reporting format — business segments (Cont’d)
Property
development

Segment turnover

Segment results

Property

Infrastructure

construction investment

Building

investment

Ship

Other

trading operations

Group

2002

2002

2002

2002

2002

2002

2002

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

178,397

312,076

56,860

19,730

15,350

1,095

583,508

(7,122)

(102,427)

(224,549)

(143,493)

4,612

(16,865)

(489,844)

Unallocated corporate
expenses, net of
income

(17,993)

Operating loss

(507,837)

Finance costs
Share of results of
associated companies

(32,442)
–

1,947

–

–

–

–

1,947

9,594

–

–

–

–

(2,352)

7,242

Share of results of
jointly controlled
entities

Loss before taxation
Taxation

(14,311)

(545,401)
7,345

Loss attributable to
shareholders

(538,056)
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Loss after taxation
Minority interests

(531,090)
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2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Primary reporting format — business segments (Cont’d)
Property
development
2002
HK$’000
Segment assets
Associated companies
Jointly controlled entities
Investment securities
Unallocated assets

474,975
–
262,744
–

Building
Property
construction investment
2002
2002
HK$’000
HK$’000
220,217
2,784
–
–

1,105,567
–
–
–

Infrastructure
investment
2002
HK$’000
100,339
–
–
–

Ship
Other
trading operations
2002
2002
HK$’000
HK$’000
93,163
–
–
–

– 1,994,261
–
2,784
–
262,744
62,645
62,645
190,120

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Taxation
Unallocated liabilities

2,512,554
127,544

507,471

792,820

42

18,443

– 1,446,320
5,622
8,324

Total liabilities
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The segment results have
been arrived at after
charging:
Depreciation and
amortisation
Deficit on revaluation of
investment properties
Impairment loss on a
leasehold land and
building
Impairment loss on other
investment in a joint
venture
Provision for diminution in
value of investment
securities
Provision for claims and
foreseeable losses on
certain construction
contracts
Provision for completed
properties held for sale
Capital expenditure

Group
2002
HK$’000

1,460,266

2,689

2,843

21,016

19,335

1,464

–

47,347

–

–

45,900

–

–

–

45,900

–

–

207,000

–

–

–

207,000

–

–

–

140,798

–

–

140,798

–

–

–

–

–

13,650

13,650

–

87,729

–

–

–

–

87,729

43,966

–

–

–

–

–

43,966

1,166

1,426

–

–

470

–

3,062

2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Secondary reporting format — geographical segments

Hong Kong
China Mainland

Turnover
2003
HK$’000

Segment
results
2003
HK$’000

Total assets
2003
HK$’000

Capital
expenditure
2003
HK$’000

685,773
253,907

(102,354)
42,401

1,486,940
451,887

1,999
138

939,680

(59,953)

1,938,827

2,137

Unallocated corporate expenses, net
of income

(13,933)

Operating loss

(73,886)

Associated companies
Jointly controlled entity
Investment securities
Unallocated assets

2,359,068
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Total assets

2,784
206,900
45,976
164,581
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2.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Secondary reporting format — geographical segments (Cont’d)
Segment
Turnover
results
2002
2002
HK$’000
HK$’000
Hong Kong
China Mainland

Unallocated corporate expenses, net
of income
Operating loss

Associated companies
Jointly controlled entities
Investment securities
Unallocated assets
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Total assets

Total assets
2002
HK$’000

Capital
expenditure
2002
HK$’000

381,436
202,072

(379,157)
(110,687)

1,556,878
437,383

2,919
143

583,508

(489,844)

1,994,261

3,062

(17,993)
(507,837)

2,784
262,744
62,645
190,120
2,512,554

3.

OPERATING LOSS
Operating loss is stated after crediting/(charging) the following:
2003
HK$’000
Net rental income (note (a))
Gain on disposal of jointly controlled entities
Net realised and unrealised gains on investments in securities
Gain on disposal/write-off of fixed assets
Depreciation (note (c))
Operating lease rental expense (note (d))
Auditors’ remuneration
Amortisation of goodwill (note 9)
Amortisation of the cost of other investment in a joint venture
(note 14)
Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments (note (e))
Provision for doubtful debts
Other charges
Deficit on revaluation of investment properties

2002
HK$’000

53,192
12,467
1,220
499
(20,038)
(1,194)
(950)
(2,034)

55,267
–
6,689
207
(26,995)
(800)
(950)
(1,017)

(21,378)
(37,855)
–

(19,335)
(37,684)
(12,861)

(70,966)

(45,900)

Impairment loss on a leasehold land and building

–

(207,000)

Impairment loss on other investment in a joint venture

–

(140,798)

Impairment loss on fixed assets

(2,855)

–

Provision for diminution in value of investment securities

(13,650)

(27,899)

(87,729)

Legal costs in respect of litigation on certain construction projects

(14,530)

–

Provision for completed properties held for sale

(11,271)

(43,966)

(136,414)

(539,043)
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(8,893)

Provision for claims and foreseeable losses on certain
construction projects
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3.

OPERATING LOSS (Cont’d)
(a)

(b)

Net rental income
2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

Rental income from
Investment properties
Other properties

21,681
33,171

21,327
35,533

Outgoings

54,852
(1,660)

56,860
(1,593)

53,192

55,267

Future minimum rental payments receivable
The future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable leases is as follows:

In the first year
In the second to third year inclusive
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2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

32,887
54,564

54,193
10,623

87,451

64,816

The Group’s operating leases are for terms ranging from one to three years.

3.

OPERATING LOSS (Cont’d)
(c)

Depreciation
2003
HK$’000
21,824
(1,786)

28,614
(1,619)

20,038

26,995

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery

1,194
281

800
898

Capitalised in construction contracts in progress

1,475
(281)

1,698
(898)

1,194

800

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

56,870
902

57,099
843

57,772
(19,917)

57,942
(20,258)

37,855

37,684

Charge for the year
Capitalised in construction contracts in progress

(d)

Operating lease rental expense

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments

Wages and salaries
Pension costs — defined contribution scheme
Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments
Capitalised in construction contracts in progress
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(e)

2002
HK$’000
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3.

OPERATING LOSS (Cont’d)
(e)

4.

5.
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Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)
As at 31st December 2003, there are 44,800,000 share options which are exercisable at
HK$0.57 per share granted to employees and directors by the Company. The share options were
granted on 26th November 2003 and are exercisable at any time between 23rd December 2003
and 22nd December 2008. No share options were exercised during the year.

FINANCE COSTS
2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within five years
Other borrowing costs

25,242
4,888

36,151
1,967

Capitalised in construction contracts in progress
Capitalised in properties under development for sale

30,130
(1,101)
(3,473)

38,118
(290)
(5,386)

25,556

32,442

TAXATION
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2002 : 16%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year. In 2003, the Hong Kong government enacted a change in the profits tax
rate from 16% to 17.5% for the fiscal year 2003/2004.
China Mainland taxation has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit derived from the
Group’s operations in China Mainland for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the China
Mainland.

5.

TAXATION (Cont’d)
The amount of taxation charged for the year to the consolidated income statement represents:
2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2,928
9,549

367
8,815

Share of taxation of jointly controlled entities

12,477
6,048

9,182
5,129

Taxation charges

18,525

14,311

The Company and subsidiaries:
— Hong Kong profits tax
— China Mainland taxation

The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the profits tax rate of Hong Kong where the Company operates and the difference is set out
below:
2003
HK$’000
(89,562)

(531,090)

Calculated at a tax rate of 17.5% (2002 : 16%)
Effect of different taxation rate in China Mainland
Income not subject to taxation
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes
Tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses

(15,673)
8,931
(9,340)
17,608
20,828
(3,829)

(84,974)
8,633
(9,822)
86,700
15,463
(1,689)

18,525

14,311

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
The loss attributable to shareholders is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to the
extent of a loss of HK$116,514,000 (2002 : HK$468,528,000).
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Loss before taxation

Taxation charge

6.

2002
HK$’000
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7.

LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of loss per share is based on the Group’s loss attributable to shareholders of
HK$116,706,000 (2002 : HK$538,056,000) and the 1,394,389,291 (2002 : 1,394,389,291) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.
No diluted loss per share is presented for 2003 as the effect of the potential shares would have been
anti-dilutive. There was no potential dilutive shares in issue in 2002.

8.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(a)

Directors’ emoluments
Details of the emoluments paid and payable to the directors of the Company are as follows:

Fees
Salaries and other emoluments

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

445
2,985

345
6,784

3,430

7,129

Emoluments paid and payable to non-executive directors of the Company amounted to
HK$445,000 (2002 : HK$345,000) during the year.
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8.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)
The emoluments of the directors of the Company fell within the following bands:
Number of directors
Emolument bands
HK$Nil – HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000
HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000

2003

2002

12
–
1
–

10
1
1
1

13

13

The above analysis includes one (2002 : three) director whose emoluments is among the five
highest in the Group.
As at 31st December 2003, eleven directors of the Company had 16,800,000 share options
which are exercisable at HK$0.57 per share granted by the Company. The share options were
granted on 26th November 2003 and are exercisable at any time between 23rd December 2003
and 22nd December 2008. No share options were exercised during the year.
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As at 31st December 2003, nine directors of the Company had 6,850,000 share options which
are exercisable at HK$9.54 per share granted by COSCO Pacific Limited (‘‘COSCO Pacific’’), a
fellow subsidiary, under COSCO Pacific’s Share Option Scheme. The share options were granted
during the period from 28th October 2003 to 6th November 2003 and are exercisable for ten
years from their respective date of acceptance of the share options. No share options were
exercised during the year.
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8.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
(b)

Senior management’s emoluments
Details of the emoluments paid to the remaining four (2002 : two) individuals whose
emoluments were among the five highest in the Group and have not been included in the
directors’ emoluments mentioned above, are as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

4,580

2,820

The emoluments of the individuals fell within the following bands:
Number of individuals
Emolument bands
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000

9.
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2003

2002

4
–

1
1

4

2

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

GOODWILL

At 1st January
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Amortisation charge

39,658
–
(2,034)

–
40,675
(1,017)

At 31st December

37,624

39,658

10. FIXED ASSETS
Group
Machinery,
Leasehold

equipment

Investment

land and

and motor

properties

buildings

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

340,100 1,059,525

Furniture
Leasehold

and

vehicles improvements

fixtures

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

Cost or valuation
At 1st January 2003
Additions
Revaluation
Disposals/write-off

At 31st December 2003

–
(70,966)
–

51,774

11,371

–

1,131

205

801

–

–

–

–

–

(925)

–

6,909 1,469,679

(73)

2,137
(70,966)
(998)

269,134 1,059,525
51,980
11,576
7,637 1,399,852
--------------------------------------------------------------------------

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
At 1st January 2003

–

308,983

41,643

10,841

6,472

367,939

Charge for the year

–

16,625

4,538

370

291

21,824

Impairment loss

–

–

2,520

79

256

2,855

Disposals/ write-off

–

–

At 31st December 2003

(696)

–

(39)

(735)

–
325,608
48,005
11,290
6,980
391,883
--------------------------------------------------------------------------

Net book value
269,134

733,917

3,975

286

657 1,007,969

At 31st December 2002

340,100

750,542

10,131

530

437 1,101,740
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10. FIXED ASSETS (Cont’d)
Group (Cont’d)
The analysis of the cost or valuation at 31st December 2003 of the above assets are as follows:
Machinery,
Leasehold

equipment

Investment

land and

and motor

properties
HK$’000

buildings
HK$’000

Furniture
Leasehold

and

vehicles improvements
HK$’000
HK$’000

fixtures
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–

1,059,525

51,980

11,576

7,637

1,130,718

At professional valuation

269,134

–

–

–

–

269,134

At 31st December 2003

269,134

1,059,525

51,980

11,576

7,637

1,399,852

At cost

The analysis of the cost or valuation at 31st December 2002 of the above assets were as follows:
Machinery,
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Leasehold

equipment

Investment

land and

and motor

Leasehold

and

properties

buildings

vehicles

improvements

fixtures

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

At cost
At professional valuation

–
340,100

1,059,525
–

51,774
–

11,371
–

6,909
–

1,129,579
340,100

At 31st December 2002

340,100

1,059,525

51,774

11,371

6,909

1,469,679

Furniture

As at 31st December 2003, the cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment of land and
buildings that are leased to an intermediate holding company and certain fellow subsidiaries
amounted to HK$809,862,000 (2002 : HK$809,862,000) and HK$248,639,000 (2002 :
HK$235,986,000) respectively.

10. FIXED ASSETS (Cont’d)
Group (Cont’d)
The Group’s interests in investment properties and other properties at their cost or valuation are
analysed as follows:

In Hong Kong, held on leases of between 10 and 50 years
Outside Hong Kong, held on leases of between 10 and 50 years
Outside Hong Kong, held on leases of over 50 years

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

1,297,999
3,560
27,100

1,368,965
3,560
27,100

1,328,659

1,399,625

The investment properties are revalued at 31st December 2003 on the basis of their open market value
by an independent firm of Chartered Surveyors, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited.
As at 31st December 2003, investment properties in Hong Kong of HK$242,034,000 (2002 :
HK$313,000,000) and other properties in Hong Kong with net book value of HK$722,549,000 (2002 :
HK$738,806,000) are pledged as securities to a bank in respect of certain banking facilities granted to
the Group.
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10. FIXED ASSETS (Cont’d)
Company
Machinery,
equipment
and motor
vehicles
HK$’000
Cost
At 1st January 2003
Additions
At 31st December 2003
Accumulated depreciation
At 1st January 2003
Charge for the year
At 31st December 2003

3,174
24

Leasehold
Furniture
improvements and fixtures
HK$’000
HK$’000

7,344
–

1,128
–

Total
HK$’000

11,646
24

3,198
7,344
1,128
11,670
----------------------------------------------------------

2,458
354

7,127
108

1,092
22

10,677
484

2,812
7,235
1,114
11,161
----------------------------------------------------------

Net book value
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At 31st December 2003

386

109

14

509

At 31st December 2002

716

217

36

969

11. SUBSIDIARIES
Company

Unlisted shares, at cost
Amounts due from
Amounts due to

Provision for diminution in value

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

–
3,409,651
(178,753)

–
3,539,640
(153,402)

3,230,898
(1,695,964)

3,386,238
(1,572,171)

1,534,934

1,814,067

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
results and/or assets of the Group at 31st December 2003 are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

12. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Group
2003
HK$’000
8,490
(5,706)

8,490
(5,706)

2,784

2,784
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13. JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Group

Share of net assets
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities, less provision

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

206,900
–

55,083
207,661

206,900

262,744

Particulars of the jointly controlled entity of the Group at 31st December 2003 are set out as follows:

Name

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Principal activity

COSCO Real Estate Development Company

The People’s Republic of

Property development

China (‘‘PRC’’), equity

in China Mainland

Limited (‘‘CRED’’)

Percentage of
interest held
20

joint venture

14. OTHER INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
Group
2003
HK$’000
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Cost
At 1st January
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1st January
Charge for the year
Impairment charge
At 31st December
Net book value as at 31st December

2002
HK$’000

634,454
634,454
--------------- ---------------

(556,586)
(21,378)
–

(396,453)
(19,335)
(140,798)

(577,964)
(556,586)
--------------- --------------56,490

77,868

15. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Group

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, at cost
Unlisted equity securities outside Hong Kong at cost

Provision for diminution in value

Market value of listed securities

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

492,397
4,922

492,397
12,698

497,319
(451,343)

505,095
(442,450)

45,976

62,645

46,674

29,847

16. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
Group
2002
HK$’000

864,838
(742,282)

617,603
(452,403)

122,556

165,200

17. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
At 31st December 2003, the carrying amount of completed properties held for sale that are carried at
net realisable value amounted to HK$56,943,000 (2002 : HK$68,614,000).
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Net amounts due from customers for
contract work (note 19)
Trade receivables
Retention receivables
Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Company

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

13,163
117,462
69,171

15,204
74,118
46,531

–
–
–

–
–
–

58,098
4,367

45,864
100

3,984
33

4,005
33

262,261

181,817

4,017

4,038

The Group’s revenue from building construction contracts is billed according to certified progress
billings, revenue from sales of properties and other operating revenues are billed according to terms of
the relevant contracts governing the transactions. All invoices billed are repayable upon presentation
of invoices.
As at 31st December 2003, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Group
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Current – 90 days
91 – 180 days
Over 180 days

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

103,280
–
14,182

56,864
5,821
11,433

117,462

74,118

19. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS
Group
2003
HK$’000
Contract costs incurred plus attributable profits less foreseeable
losses to date
Progress billings received and receivable

2002
HK$’000

6,150,890
(6,329,771)

5,712,252
(5,825,284)

(178,881)

(113,032)

13,163

15,204

(192,044)

(128,236)

(178,881)

(113,032)

Representing:
Net amounts due from customers for contract work included in trade
and other receivables (note 18)
Net amounts due to customers for contract work included in
trade and other payables (note 22)

20. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS
Group
2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

243

9,238

–

33
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21. CASH AND CASH BALANCES
Group

Cash and bank balances
Restricted bank deposits included in non-current assets

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

559,322
(4,392)

540,246
(54,129)

554,930

486,117

The Group’s bank deposits of HK$4,392,000 (2002 : HK$54,129,000) is restricted for the purpose of
long-term banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
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Net amounts due to customers for
contract work (note 19)
Trade payables
Retention payables
Accrued liabilities and other
payables
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Amount due to the ultimate holding
company

Company

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

192,044
75,827
86,523

128,236
91,908
73,993

–
–
–

–
–
–

58,875
3,562

46,378
7,848

3,036
–

5,699
–

16,176

–

–

–

433,007

348,363

3,036

5,699

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)
As at 31st December 2003, the ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:
Group

Current – 90 days
91 – 180 days
Over 180 days

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

61,850
–
13,977

54,955
4,082
32,871

75,827

91,908

23. BANK LOANS — UNSECURED
As at 31st December 2003, bank loan of HK$107,000,000 (2002 : HK$25,000,000) is guaranteed by
COSCO (Hong Kong) Group Limited (‘‘COSCO Hong Kong’’), an intermediate holding company of the
Group. Besides, bank loan of HK$18,790,000 (2002 : Nil) is guaranteed by a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary.

24. SHARE CAPITAL
2003
Number
of shares

HK$’000

2002
Number
of shares

HK$’000

Shares of HK$0.10 each

3,000,000,000

300,000

3,000,000,000

300,000

1,394,389,291

139,439

1,394,389,291

139,439

Issued and fully paid:
Shares of HK$0.10 each

On 17th May 2002, a share options scheme was approved at an Annual General Meeting of the
Company under which the directors may, at their discretion, invite directors and employees of the
Group to subscribe for shares of the Company.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)
On 26th November 2003, the directors and employees of the Group were granted a total of
44,800,000 share options at a price of HK$0.57 per share. In addition, 34,200,000 share options were
granted to employees of China Ocean Shipping (Group) Company (‘‘COSCO’’) and its subsidiaries and
associated companies (other than the Group). The options are exercisable at any time from 23rd
December 2003 to 22nd December 2008.
The movements of share options granted pursuant to the Company’s share option schemes are as
follows:
Number of share options
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2003

2002

At the beginning of the year
Granted
Exercised
Lapsed

–
79,000,000
–
–

14,620,000
–
–
(14,620,000)

At the end of the year

79,000,000

–

25. RESERVES
Group
Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Capital
reserve
HK$’000

Exchange
fluctuation Accumulated
reserve
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

note (d)
2,356,553
–
–
–

60,020
–
3,131
–

(2,043)
(507)
–
–

(1,549,684)
–
(3,131)
(116,706)

864,846
(507)
–
(116,706)

At 31st December 2003

2,356,553

63,151

(2,550)

(1,669,521)

747,633

Company and subsidiaries
Associated companies
Jointly controlled entities

2,356,553
–
–

63,151
–
–

(2,550)
–
–

(1,663,766)
(7,009)
1,254

753,388
(7,009)
1,254

2,356,553

63,151

(2,550)

(1,669,521)

747,633

At 1st January 2002
Exchange differences
Transferred to capital reserve
Loss for the year (note (a))

2,356,553
–
–
–

56,683
–
3,337
–

(2,027)
(16)
–
–

(1,008,291) 1,402,918
–
(16)
(3,337)
–
(538,056) (538,056)

At 31st December 2002

2,356,553

60,020

(2,043)

(1,549,684)

864,846

Company and subsidiaries
Associated companies
Jointly controlled entities

2,356,553
–
–

60,020
–
–

(2,043)
–
–

(1,540,097)
(7,009)
(2,578)

874,433
(7,009)
(2,578)

2,356,553

60,020

(2,043)

(1,549,684)

864,846
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25. RESERVES (Cont’d)
Company
Share
premium Contributed Accumulated
account
surplus
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
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Total
HK$’000

At 1st January 2003
Loss for the year

2,356,553
–

83,770
–

(1,563,821)
(116,514)

876,502
(116,514)

At 31st December 2003

2,356,553

83,770

(1,680,335)

759,988

At 1st January 2002
Loss for the year

2,356,553
–

83,770
–

(1,095,293) 1,345,030
(468,528) (468,528)

At 31st December 2002

2,356,553

83,770

(1,563,821)

876,502

(a)

Loss for the year of HK$116,706,000 (2002 : HK$538,056,000) includes a net profit of
HK$3,832,000 attributable to jointly controlled entities (2002 : HK$4,060,000 attributable to
associated companies and jointly controlled entities).

(b)

The contributed surplus of the Company arose in 1992 when the Company issued shares in
exchange for the shares of companies being acquired, and represents the difference between the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets of the companies
acquired.

(c)

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed surplus is currently not
distributable. Accordingly, the Company had no reserves available for distribution at 31st
December 2003 (2002 : Nil).

(d)

Included in the capital reserve is an amount of HK$6,468,000 (2002 : HK$3,337,000) which
represents the Group’s share of the statutory reserves of certain PRC subsidiaries.

26. LONG-TERM BANK LOANS
Group

Bank loans
Secured
Unsecured

Amount repayable within one year
included in current liabilities

Company

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

697,130
80,000

853,281
188,000

697,130
80,000

780,000
188,000

777,130

1,041,281

777,130

968,000

(99,230)

(90,000)

(99,230)

(90,000)

677,900

951,281

677,900

878,000

99,230
19,230
658,670

90,000
171,281
780,000

99,230
19,230
658,670

90,000
98,000
780,000

777,130

1,041,281

777,130

968,000

The bank loans are repayable as
follows:
Within one year
In the second year
In the third to fifth year

27. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
approximately HK$856,572,000 (2002 : approximately HK$780,301,000) to carry forward against
future taxable income.
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HK$73,281,000 and HK$968,000,000 were guaranteed by COSCO and COSCO Hong Kong
respectively).

111

28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a)

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash generated from operating activities
2003
HK$’000
(73,886)
–
–
8,893

(507,837)
207,000
140,798
13,650

27,899
11,271
70,966
(3,829)
20,038
21,378
2,034
(499)
(12,467)
2,855
(1,105)
(22,839)

87,729
43,966
45,900
(5,636)
26,995
19,335
1,017
(207)
–
–
(1,836)
(19,730)

Operating profit before working capital changes

50,709

51,144

Decrease in properties under development for sale
Decrease in completed properties held for sales
Decrease/(increase) in construction contracts in progress
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables, retention receivables,
deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in short-term investments
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, accrued liabilities and
other payables
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Increase in amount due to the ultimate holding company

46,117
400
40,837

87,106
2,204
(10,388)

(72,843)
8,995

372,066
(2,317)

8,946
(4,267)
(4,286)
16,176

(87,639)
541
7,274
–

90,784

419,991

Operating loss
Impairment loss on a leasehold land and building
Impairment loss on other investment in a joint venture
Provision for diminution in value of investment securities
Provision for claims and foreseeable losses on certain
construction contracts
Provision for completed properties held for sale
Deficit on revaluation of investment properties
Interest income
Depreciation of fixed assets, net of amount capitalised
Amortisation of cost of other investment in a joint venture
Amortisation of goodwill
Gain on disposal/write-off of fixed assets
Gain on disposal of jointly controlled entities
Impairment loss on fixed assets
Dividend income
Income from other investment in a joint venture
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2002
HK$’000

Net cash inflow generated from operations

28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Cont’d)
(b)

Analysis of changes in financing during the year
Share
capital and
premium
HK$’000
At 1st January 2002
Net cash outflow from financing
activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Minority’s share of loss of subsidiaries
for the year

Bank loans
HK$’000

Minority
interests
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

2,495,992

1,467,357

46,701

4,010,050

–
–

(361,076)
–

(4,338)
12,985

(365,414)
12,985

–

–

(7,345)

(7,345)

At 31st December 2002

2,495,992

1,106,281

48,003

3,650,276

At 1st January 2003
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
financing activities
Minority’s share of profit of
subsidiaries for the year

2,495,992

1,106,281

48,003

3,650,276

–

–

8,619

8,619

At 31st December 2003

2,495,992

935,120

87,259

3,518,371

–

(171,161)

30,637

(140,524)

(a)

Investment commitments
At 31st December 2003, the Group had committed to provide a shareholders’ loan of
RMB51,000,000 (approximately HK$47,910,000) to a 51% owned subsidiary engaging in
property development in the China Mainland.
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29. COMMITMENTS (Cont’d)
(b)

Operating leases commitments
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of land and buildings are as follows:
Group

Within one year
In the second to fifth year
inclusive

Company

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

362

279

3,149

4,480

–

7

6,035

–

362

286

9,184

4,480

The Company entered into non-cancellable operating leases with a subsidiary of the Group,
such lease commitments are eliminated upon consolidation.
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30. CONTINGENCIES
Group

Company
2002
HK$’000

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

Guarantees for banking facilities
granted to subsidiaries

–

–

40,000

40,000

Claims for liquidated damages and
cost of rectification works in
respect of a completed
construction contract

–

42,500

–

–

Performance bonds in respect of
performance and completion of
construction contracts

10,271

10,271

–

–

Guarantee and counter-indemnity to
bank guarantees in respect of due
performance of management and
remedial cost of a property
undertaken by the Group

43,000

43,000

35,000

35,000

Guarantees to mortgage loans in
respect of a property development
project (Note)

213,517

80,327

–

–

Note: The Group provides guarantees to the mortgage loans granted by certain banks to buyers of a property
development project in China Mainland. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in loan payments
by the buyers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding loan principals together with accrued interest and
penalty owed by the defaulted buyers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take over the legal title and
possession of the related properties. The directors of the Group consider that in case of default, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of outstanding loan principals together with the accrued
interest and penalty and therefore no provision has been made in the financial statements of the Group for the
guarantees.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

The following is a summary of the significant related party transactions carried out in the normal
course of the Group’s business during the year.
Group
2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

(i)
(i)

2,051
28,512

2,073
30,687

(ii)

40,834

15,350

Note
Rental income received from
An intermediate holding company
Fellow subsidiaries
Commission income for provision
of agency services
Notes:
(i)

Eleven tenancy agreements were entered into between certain subsidiaries of the Company as landlords,
and COSCO Hong Kong or its subsidiaries as tenants, for the leasing of certain properties of the Group at
COSCO Tower at monthly rentals ranging from HK$23 to HK$28 (2002 : HK$33) per square feet.

(ii)

Certain subsidiaries of the Company act as the agent of COSCO and its subsidiaries (other than the Group) in
respect of (a) sale and purchase of new and second hand vessels, (b) bareboat charter businesses, and (c)
sale and purchase of marine equipment for new ship-building projects. According to the terms of the
relevant engagement/commission agreements, the Group received commission income from vendors, shipowners and equipment makers with respect to the transactions mentioned above.
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(b)

On 24th January 2003, the Group entered into the Share Transfer and Capital Injection
Agreement and the Joint Venture Agreement for the acquisition from COSCO of a 23.4% equity
interest in CRED, a former 50% owned company of COSCO for a cash consideration of
RMB191,750,000, and the participation in the capital injection by the Group for an aggregate
amount of RMB26,510,000. Upon completion of the transactions in July 2003, the Group holds
20% of the enlarged registered capital in CRED.

(c)

On 24th January 2003, a Sale and Purchase Agreement was also signed for the sale of the
Group’s entire 49% equity interest in Beijing Tian Lin Property Development Co. Ltd. (‘‘Tian
Lin’’), a jointly controlled entity, to CRED for a cash consideration of RMB62,630,000 and for the
repayment by Tian Lin of the outstanding shareholder’s loan advanced by the Group of
RMB226,760,000. The transactions were completed in September 2003 and the Group derived a
gain on disposal of HK$3,214,000.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d)

On 14th August and 25th November 2003, the Group entered into conditional share transfer
agreements for the acquisition of an aggregate of 63.07% equity interest in two companies in
China Mainland engaging in paint manufacturing business in the China Mainland from
subsidiaries of COSCO. Further details are set out in note 33.

(e)

On 14th May 2003, the Group disposed of its 0.9% interest in COSCO Network Limited to
COSCO Information Technology Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COSCO Hong Kong, for
a consideration of HK$7,775,000.

32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Particulars of
issued
share capital/
registered capital

99 Prove Finance Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property holding

Capital Properties Limited#

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1each

100 Provision of
nominee services

Cash in Hand Inc

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property
investment

Century Metro
Development Limited

Hong Kong

10,000 Ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

100 Property
development

Cosmart Company Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

60 Provision of agency
services on ship
trading business

COSCO International
Infrastructure Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

Name

Percentage of
interest held Principal activities

Operated in Hong Kong
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32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name

Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Particulars of
issued
share capital/
registered capital

Percentage of
interest held Principal activities

Operated in Hong Kong (Cont’d)
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COSCO International Land
Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

COSCO International Ship
Trading Company
Limited

Hong Kong

500,000 Ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

60 Provision of agency
services on ship
trading business

COSCO International Trade Hong Kong
Limited

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

COSCO Project
Management Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

Gwee Brothers Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property
investment

Malayan Corporations
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property
investment

Mission Success Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

Selwin Limited

Hong Kong

1,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

100 Building
construction

32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name

Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Particulars of
issued
share capital/
registered capital

Percentage of
interest held Principal activities

Operated in Hong Kong (Cont’d)
2,742,000 ordinary
shares of
HK$100 each
and 120,000
non-voting
deferred shares
of HK$100 each

100 Building
construction

Success Gate Investment
Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

Tian Lee Property Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property holding

Velu Exports Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property holding

Waily Development
Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Investment holding

Wealth Nice Investment
Limited

Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Property
development

Wing Thye Holdings
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property holding

Year Of The Rat Corp.

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Property holding

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

Shun Shing Construction & Hong Kong
Engineering Company,
Limited

119

32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name

Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Particulars of
issued
share capital/
registered capital

Percentage of
interest held Principal activities

Operated in British Virgin Islands
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85.85 Investment holding

Cash Rich Enterprises
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

10,000 Ordinary
shares of US$1
each

COSCO (B.V.I.) Holdings
Limited#

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

COSCO International
Construction Limited

British Virgin
Islands

100 Ordinary
shares of US$1
each

100 Investment holding

COSCO International
Infrastructure (BVI)
Holdings Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

COSCO International Land
(B.V.I.) Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Graceful Nice Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Mega Precise Profit Limited British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Modern Capital Investment British Virgin
Limited
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Monoland Assets Limited

2 Ordinary shares
of US$1 each

100 Investment holding

British Virgin
Islands

32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name

Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Particulars of
issued
share capital/
registered capital

Percentage of
interest held Principal activities

Operated in British Virgin Islands (Cont’d)
Raycle Match
Development Ltd.

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Top Elegant Investment Ltd. British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Trinity Developments
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

Uppermost Corporation#

British Virgin
Islands

1 Ordinary share of
US$1

100 Investment holding

New Central International
Enterprises Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong

1,000,000
Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

90 Investment holding

Shanghai COSCO Honour
Property Development
Limited

PRC, equity
joint
venture

RMB232,238,926

85 Property
development

Xiang Li Yuan (Shanghai)
Property Management
Company Limited

PRC, wholly
foreignowned
enterprise

US$500,000

100 Property
management
services

Wellbase Holdings Limited Hong Kong

2 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

100 Property
investment

COSCO Ship Beijing
Company Limited

US$500,000

Operated in the PRC

60 Provision of agency
services on ship
trading business
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32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name

Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Particulars of
issued
share capital/
registered capital

Percentage of
interest held Principal activities

Operated in the PRC (Cont’d)
Shenyang COSCO Yihe
Property Development
Company Limited
#

PRC, equity
joint
venture

RMB100,000,000

51 Property
development

Shares held directly by the Company

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

122

(a)

On 14th August and 25th November 2003, the Group entered into conditional share transfer
agreements for the acquisition of 34.19% and 28.88% respectively, 63.07% in aggregate, equity
interest in Shanghai COSCO Kansai Paint & Chemical Co. Ltd. and Tianjin COSCO Kansai Paint
& Chemicals Co. Ltd. from subsidiaries of COSCO for a total consideration of RMB116,831,000
(approximately HK$109,763,000) in cash. The acquisitions were completed in January 2004
when the conditions precedent were fulfilled.

(b)

On 14th August 2003, the Group entered into conditional sales and purchase agreement with
COSCO Industry Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COSCO, for the acquisition of 10%
equity interest of International Paint of Shanghai Co., Ltd.. The acquisition will be completed in
the midst of 2004 when the conditions precedent are fulfilled.

(c)

On 16th April 2004, the Board announces to put forward to the shareholders a proposal to apply
part of the amount standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company to offset
the entire accumulated losses as at 31st December 2003 of HK$1,680,335,000 and transfer the
remaining credit of the share premium account to contributed surplus.

34. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The directors regard China Ocean Shipping (Group) Company, a state-owned enterprise established in
the PRC, as being the ultimate holding company.

35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 16th April 2004.

List

of Major Properties

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

(1)

(2)

Stage of
completion

Description

Use

Approximate area

Between Yuezhou Road,
Hailaer Road,Tongzhou
Road and Gaoyang Road
at Hongkou District,
Shanghai,
the PRC

Residential,
commercial
and car parking
spaces

Site area 35,000 sq.m. Phase One
Estimated gross floor
Zone One &
area 183,000 sq.m.
Two:
Completed

Located at the south west
of the junction between
Cong Shan Dong Road
and Liu Tiao Hu Street, Yu
Hung District, Shenyang,
Liao Ning Province,
the PRC

Residential,
Construction
Phase One:
Commercial and Site area 36,650 sq.m. in progress
car parking
Estimated gross floor
spaces
area 68,430 sq.m.

Percentage of
attributable
interest to
the Group
85

Phase Two
Construction
in progress

Land
Phase Two:
Site area 35,980 sq.m. acquisition to
be completed
Estimated gross floor
area 131,570 sq.m.

51

51

COSCO International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2003

123

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Description

Use

Approximate area

(1)

Aberdeen Inland Lot No.
435, Shum Wan Road,
Hong Kong

Commercial, car 1,616 sq.m.
parking spaces
202 car parking
spaces

(2)

3 Mei Wo Circuit Shatin Residential, car
Town Lot No. 217, Shatin, parking spaces
New Territories, Hong
Kong

Saleable area 408
sq.m.
2 car parking spaces

Stage of
completion

Percentage of
attributable
interest to
the Group

Completed

100

Completed

100

Percentage of
attributable
interest to
the Group

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
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Description

Use

Approximate area

Lease term

(1)

39/F, 40/F and 42/F
COSCO Tower, 183
Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong

Commercial

Gross floor area
6,156 sq.m.

From 25th
June 1997 to
30th June
2047

100

(2)

Block 5, Kingswell
Garden Lane 3887 Hong
Mei Road, Shanghai,
the PRC

Residential

2,592 sq.m.

From 26th
December
1996 to 4th
June 2065

100

LEASEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS

(1)

Description

Use

Approximate area

Lease term

47/F–51/F COSCO Tower
183 Queen’s Road
Central
Hong Kong

Commercial

Gross floor area 9,885 From 25th
sq.m.
June 1997 to
30th June
2047

Percentage of
attributable
interest to
the Group
100
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Five-year

Financial Summary

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
Year ended 31st December
2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2001
HK$’000

2000
HK$’000

1999
HK$’000

939,680

583,508

1,844,845

1,472,577

1,986,181

(99,442)

(540,279)

(158,205)

37,261

20,737

–

1,947

76

(1,287)

(864)

9,880

7,242

(2,169)

(2,063)

–

(89,562)
(18,525)

(531,090)
(14,311)

(160,298)
(7,353)

33,911
(1,966)

19,873
(149)

(Loss)/profit after taxation
Minority interests

(108,087)
(8,619)

(545,401)
7,345

(167,651)
(447)

31,945
(1,748)

19,724
(2,628)

(Loss)/profit attributable to
shareholders

(116,706)

(538,056)

(168,098)

30,197

17,096

Turnover

Operating (loss)/profit after
finance costs
Share of results of associated
companies
Share of results of jointly
controlled entities
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Taxation
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CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As at 31st December
2002
HK$’000

2001
HK$’000

2000
HK$’000

1999
HK$’000

Goodwill
Fixed assets
Associated companies
Jointly controlled entities
Other investment in a joint
venture
Investment securities
Other non-current assets
Current assets

37,624
1,007,969
2,784
206,900

39,658
1,101,740
2,784
262,744

–
1,376,753
837
212,727

–
1,451,694
6,296
3,795

–
1,479,051
9,041
–

56,490
45,976
4,392
996,933

77,868
62,645
54,129
910,986

238,001
103,354
83,794
1,403,368

326,344
228,781
92,709
2,075,501

407,372
215,673
55,980
1,762,262

Total assets

2,359,068

2,512,554

3,418,834

4,185,120

3,929,379

706,837
677,900
87,259

508,985
951,281
48,003

793,150
1,036,626
46,701

1,408,829
1,027,416
46,210

843,049
1,391,682
24,377

1,471,996

1,508,269

1,876,477

2,482,455

2,259,108

887,072

1,004,285

1,542,357

1,702,665

1,670,271

Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Minority interests
Total liabilities and minority
interests

Net assets

PER SHARE DATA
Year ended 31st December
2003
HK Cents

2002
HK Cents

2001
HK Cents

2000
HK Cents

1999
HK Cents

(Loss)/earnings per share

(8.37)

(38.59)

(12.10)

2.19

1.25

Net asset value per share

63.62

72.02

110.61

123.20

121.04
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Notice

of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of the Company will be held at 49th Floor,
COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong on Thursday, 3rd June 2004 at 10 : 00 a.m. for the
following purposes:
1.

To receive and consider the audited financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2003
together with the directors’ report and the auditors’ report thereon.

2.

To re-elect the directors and to fix their remuneration.

3.

To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

4.

To transact any other business.

By Order of the Board
WAI Ching Sum
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 16th April 2004
Notes:
1.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to
attend and vote instead of him. A member who is the holder of two or more shares in the capital of the Company may
appoint more than one proxy. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.
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To be valid the proxy form together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a
notarially certified copy thereof, must be deposited with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Abacus
Share Registrars Limited at Ground Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting and adjourned meeting.
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